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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Miko
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | hereby
present full-year results for the year ended 31 December
2024.

For the full year of 2024, revenue and net loss before
taxation of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB389.1 million and RMB27.9 million respectively, as
compared to revenue and net loss before taxation of
approximately RMB150.6 million and RMB12.7 million
respectively for the full year of 2023.

During the year of 2024, the economy of Mainland China
faced a challenging period of time even the Chinese
government continued to implement certain stimulated
policies on domestic demand and consumption. Changes
in consumption pattern, lower confidence and lower
income of the consumers were observed as the
consumers became more cautious in spending and the
consumption of the goods. This in turns resulted in the
lower and soft demand in the wholesale and retail market
in Mainland China in the year of 2024.

Parents are increasingly seeking eco-friendly and
sustainable clothing options for their children. The online
sales continued its growth, with more parents opting for
the convenience of online shopping. Personalized and
customizable clothing options are gaining popularity
among consumers. There is a growing demand for
clothing that is safe and comfortable for children.

In addition, the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company have been established in support of the Group’s
new line of business in the supply chain management in
Mainland China. The Group started up supply chain
management business in relation to the trading of bulk
commodity in the year of 2024. During the year of 2024,
the business environment for commodity including
industrial and chemical produces in Mainland China is
influenced by a combination of domestic economic
policies, industrial demand, global market trends and
sustainability initiatives.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



This was a challenging year even overall sales
performance increased by 158.4% for the full year 2024
as compared with the same period in 2023 with the
emergence of supply chain management business in 2024
but the gross margin reflected a decrease in margin
owing to the impact from market condition and products
mix sold in the year of 2024.

Considering the unprecedented challenges and market
uncertainty, the Group always took immediate actions to
preserve cash and strengthen its liquidity during the year.
The Group has been managing operating expenses,
marketing and promotion cost and finance cost sharply in
the recent years in such business environment.

The Chinese government will continuously make certain
effective measures and changes to stimulate the overall
economic environment that would stimulate the consumer
demand and improve overall business environment in
Mainland China. The outlook of the wholesale business of
apparel related industry and supply chain management
business in the year of 2025 is at positive view in
Mainland China. The Group also expects the supply chain
management business to expand the business scope to
the importing and exporting of bulk commodity including
but not limited to industrial and food products in the year
of 2025. In the medium to long-term, the Group remains
positive about its business and believes that it will bring
satisfactory and sustainable returns to the shareholders.
The Group continuously remains open to the opportunities
for investment that can have sustainable growth going
forward.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our staff, shareholders and business partners
for their support. We will continue with our endeavor to
pursue growth, create value and opportunity for our
Group and shareholders.

Ding Peiji
Chairman of the Board

28 March 2025

CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue

The Group’s products were principally engaged in the wholesale business of design, manufacture and
sales of children’s apparel and other apparel related products in Mainland China. In addition, the
supply chain management business of the Group has been emerged and the business scope included
but not limited to the trading of bulk commodity in Mainland China in the year of 2024.

The Group’s revenue was affected by the challenging business environment in the year of 2024 even
with the emergence of the supply chain management business. The Group’s revenue recorded an
increase of about 158.4%, from approximately RMB150.6 million for FY2023 to approximately RMB389.1
million for FY2024.

Wholesale business of children’s apparel and other apparel related products amounted to
approximately RMB260.3 million or approximately 66.9% for the Group’s revenue during FY2024 as
compared to that of approximately RMB150.6 million for FY2023.

Trading of bulk commodity amounted to approximately RMB128.8 million or 33.1% for the Group’s
revenue during FY2024.

Cost of Sales

The cost of sales increased by approximately RMB244.9 million or approximately 195.8%, from
approximately RMB125.1 million for FY2023 to approximately RMB370.0 million for FY2024. The
increase was generally in line with the changes in products and sales mix with the emergence of
supply chain management business in relation to the trading of bulk commodity during the year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the gross profit decreased by approximately RMB6.4 million or
approximately 25.1%, from approximately RMB25.5 million for FY2023 to approximately RMB19.1
million for FY2024. Gross profit margin decreased by 12.1 percent points, from 17.0% for FY2023 to
4.9% for FY2024.

Other Revenue

Other revenue primarily consisted of interest income from bank deposits of approximately RMB1.4
million (FY2023: approximately RMB1.5 million) and rental income and others of approximately RMB1.3
million (FY2023: approximately RMB1.7 million).

Reversal of Allowance/(Allowance for) Expected Credit Losses on Trade and Other
Receivables, Net

Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables of approximately
RMBO0.3 million (FY2023: allowance for expected credit losses of approximately RMB5.6 million) are
recorded resulting from the management of the Company taking into consideration of the current credit
worthiness, the past collection history, the aged status and the prevailing market conditions. The
Company will continue to conduct comprehensive review of the distributors’ repayment histories,
resources and financial capabilities to ensure that they are able to repay the debt within the credit
period.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of marketing rebates, salaries and benefits for
sales and marketing personnel, and advertising and exhibition expenses. Selling and distribution
expenses recorded an increase of approximately 38.8%, from approximately RMB18.3 million for
FY2023 to approximately RMB25.4 million for FY2024. The increase was resulted from a more
advertisement and marketing expenses under the current business environment.

As a percentage of turnover, selling and distribution expenses were 12.1% and 6.5% for FY2023 and
FY2024 respectively.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses primarily consisted of design and development expenses,
salaries and benefits for administrative personnel, and professional expenses in relation to legal and
financial advisory services and taxes and levies.

Administrative and other operating expenses were approximately RMB21.4 million for FY2024,
representing an increase of approximately RMB5.8 million or an increase of approximately 37.4% as
compared to approximately RMB15.6 million for FY2023.

As a percentage of turnover, administrative and other operating expenses were 10.3% and 5.5% for
FY2023 and FY2024 respectively.

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately RMB1.4 million, from approximately RMB2.0 million for
FY2023 to approximately RMBO0.6 million for FY2024.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses of approximately RMBO0.5 million was recorded for FY2024 (FY2023: RMBO0.05
million). Currently, the principal subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China are subject to an
enterprise income tax rate of 25%.

Loss for the Year before Taxation

As a result of the foregoing, loss before taxation for FY2024 of approximately RMB27.9 million was
recorded as compared to approximately RMB12.7 million for FY2023.

Working Capital Management

The Group possesses sufficient cash to meet liquidity requirements and for strategic alliances and
acquisitions, if any. As of 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents, and bank deposits
totaled approximately RMB39.7 million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB39.7 million),
representing 24.9% (31 December 2023: 22.8%) of the total amount of the current assets.

Current ratio and quick ratio were 2.2 times and 2.0 times, respectively, as at 31 December 2024, as
compared to 2.4 times and 1.9 times, respectively, as at 31 December 2023.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Inventories

The inventories decreased by approximately RMB13.6 million, from approximately RMB31.1 million as
of 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB17.5 million as at 31 December 2024. Inventories mainly
comprised raw materials of approximately RMB0.8 million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB1.7
million), work in progress of approximately RMBO0.1 million (31 December 2023: approximately RMBO.1
million) and finished goods of approximately RMB16.6 million (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB29.3 million). The inventory turnover was 24 days for FY2024 (FY2023: 79 days).

Written down on inventories of approximately RMB2.6 million (2023: approximately RMB3.2 million) is
provided due to allowance made for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items as the net realisable
value for such inventories based primarily on the estimated subsequent selling prices and salability of
inventories.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables decreased by approximately RMB5.4 million, from approximately RMB93.9 million as
of 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB88.5 million as of 31 December 2024.

Trade receivables turnover was 86 days for FY2024 (FY2023: 217 days).

Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivable, net of approximately
RMBO0.2 million (FY2023: allowance for expected credit losses of approximately RMB5.6 million) is
provided resulting from the management of the Company taking into consideration of the current credit
worthiness, the past collection history, the aged status and the prevailing market conditions. The Group
continues to conduct comprehensive review of the distributors’ repayment histories, resources and
financial capabilities to ensure that they are able to repay the debt within the credit period.

Trade Payables

Trade payables decreased from approximately RMB33.0 million as of 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB2.7 million as of 31 December 2024. Trade payables turnover was 18 days for
FY2024 (FY2023: 54 days).

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The following table sets forth the cash flows for FY2024 and FY2023:

FY2024 FY2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net cash used in operating activities (35,615) (2,859)
Net cash used in investing activities (10,420) (4,281)
Net cash generated from financing activities 46,941 10,161
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 906 3,021
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 39,721 36,739
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (972) (39)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 39,655 39,721

The Group was in net cash position as of 31 December 2024, and the gearing ratio was 12.8% as of 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: 11.8%).

Notes to financial ratios

(1) Inventory turnover days equal to the average of the opening and closing balances of inventories
of the relevant period divided by cost of sales of the relevant year and multiplied by 365 days

(2) Trade receivables turnover days equal to the average of the opening and closing balances of
trade receivables of the relevant period divided by turnover of the relevant year and multiplied
by 365 days

(3) Trade payables turnover days equal to the average of the opening and closing balances of trade
payables of the relevant year divided by cost of sales of the relevant year and multiplied by 365
days

(4)  Current ratio equals to current assets divided by current liabilities as of the end of the year

(5) Quick ratio equals to current assets less inventories divided by current liabilities as of the end of
the year

(6) Gearing ratio equals to total of bank and other borrowings divided by total equity as of the end
of the year

1 O MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has a treasury policy that aims to better control its treasury operations and lower borrowing
cost. The treasury policy requires the Group to maintain an adequate level of cash and cash
equivalents, and sufficient available banking facilities to finance its daily operations and to address
short-term funding needs. The Group reviews and evaluates the treasury policy from time to time to
ensure its adequacy and effectiveness.

Except for operations of the Company and other investment holding companies outside Mainland
China, the Group’s businesses are principally conducted in RMB and most of the Group’s monetary
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB. Accordingly, the management considers the Group’s
exposure to currency risk insignificant.

The interest rate risk of the Group arises primarily from bank borrowings. As the Group’s operations are
mainly conducted in Mainland China and the majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities, and sales
and purchases are transacted in RMB, the Directors are of the view that the Group is not subject to
significant foreign exchange rate risks.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

Placing of Shares under General Mandate

On 8 May 2024 (after trading hours), the Company entered into the placing agreement with the placing
agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place, through the placing agent on
a best efforts basis, up to 28,339,200 placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.70 per placing share
to not less than six placees who are professional, institutional or other investors that are third parties
independent of the Company and its connected persons. The placing shares were allotted and issued
pursuant to the general mandate, which had been approved at the annual general meeting of the
Company. Details of the placing of new shares were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 8 May 2024 and 28 May 2024.

In May 2024, the Company completed the placement of 28,338,000 shares and raised net proceeds of
approximately HK$19.3 million. As of 31 December 2024, the entire amount of HK$19.3 million has fully
utilised as planned.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The table below sets out the planned applications of the net proceeds and actual usage up to 31
December 2024.

Actual
Percentage usage up to
Planned of total net 31 December
Use of proceeds applications proceeds 2024
HK$ million HK$ million
Setting up a technology platform for the clothing
industry supply chain 5.0 25.9% 5.0
General working capital for running supply chain
management business 14.3 74.1% 14.3

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As of 31 December 2024, the Group has no capital commitments (31 December 2023: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as of 31 December 2024 and 2023.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 December 2024, certain properties and right-of-use assets totalled approximately RMB9.7 million
(31 December 2023: approximately RMB10.3 million) were pledged for certain bank loans.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group made no significant investments, material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

INVESTMENTS HELD IN FOREIGN CURRENCY AND HEDGING

For FY2024, the Group did not hold any investments denominated in foreign currencies. Furthermore,
the Group’s working capital or liquidity did not encounter any material difficulties or material impacts
as a result of the movement in exchange rate.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The emolument policy of the Group aims at attracting, retaining and motivating talented individuals.
The principle is to have performance-based remuneration which reflects market standards.
Remuneration package for each employee is generally determined based on his or her job nature and
position with reference to market standards. The emolument policy of the Group will be adjusted
depending on a number of factors, including changes to the market practice and stages of the
business development, so as to achieve the operational targets of the Group. As at 31 December 2024,
the Company employed around 300 full-time employees. The total staff costs for FY2024 was
approximately RMB27.1 million (FY2023: approximately RMB26.5 million).

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

OVERVIEW

The Group is delighted to present the Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG”) report (the “ESG
Report”), prepared by Miko International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) to summarise the Group’s ESG key issues, initiatives and the
sustainability performance of our principal business for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024 (“2024” or “2024 Reporting Period”). The ESG Report is prepared in response to
stakeholders’ expectations and concerns about the sustainable development of the Group.

This report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Code (the "ESG Reporting Code”)
outlined in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules and Guidance Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“HKEX”) and follows the principles of materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency, and covers the operations and activities of the subsidiaries in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) and Hong Kong. This ESG Report was compiled
in compliance with the “mandatory disclosure requirements” and the “comply or explain” provisions in
the ESG Reporting Code.

This ESG Report, which has been reviewed and approved by the board of the Company (the “Board”),
both reviews and reports the core business operations and activities of the Group.

ESG OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

The Group is engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of children’s approval and other apparel
related products. In addition, the supply chain management business of the Group has been emerged
and the type of business scope included but not limited to the trading of bulk commodities in the PRC.
We manufacture our products in both our factory in Quanzhou City of Fujian Province and on Original
Equipment Manufacturing (*OEM”) orders, which mean products that are fully designed by the Group
and then licensed out to other manufacturers to produce in the PRC. We sell our products through our
wholesale networks throughout China.

The Group continues to strive to be an environmentally friendly and socially responsible corporation.
We operate in strict compliance with the principles of minimizing risks associated with the listed ESG
subject areas and aspects mentioned in the ESG Reporting Code, including but not limited to
complying with legal and regulatory requirements, adherence to high ethical standards, and eliminating
and minimizing negative impacts on the environment.

The Group holds a deep appreciation for the individuals who are an integral part of the business. We
are committed to furthering our adherence to the various ESG principles outlined in the ESG Reporting
Code. Our focus extends beyond compliance and we strive to make a meaningful impact in several key
areas:

1. Enhancing Employee Well-Being: We prioritize the health and happiness of our employees by
implementing programs that support their mental and physical well-being, offering certain work
arrangements, and fostering professional growth.

2. Creating Value for Stakeholders: We believe in building strong relationships with our
stakeholders. By engaging in open dialogue and collaboration, we ensure that our endeavors
benefit all parties involved and contribute to our collective success.

3. Supporting Community Growth and Inclusion: We are dedicated to uplifting the communities in
which we operate. Through outreach initiatives, we aim to enhance local education,
infrastructure, and health services, reinforcing our commitment to social responsibility and
inclusivity.

By embracing these principles, we not only uphold our responsibilities under the ESG Reporting Code
but also contribute to a sustainable and inclusive future for everyone involved.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



14

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is responsible for the sustainable development of the Group and directs the Group to
perform its corporate social responsibilities. The Board determinedly believes that our attention to
resources management and occupational safety and health will especially help the Group achieving its
established vision and mission. The Board has faith in that attaching importance to ESG management
can improve our corporate image, reduce ESG risks and enhance the Group’s capability to comply with
relevant laws and regulations. These efforts can further improve the competitiveness of the Group and
promote the sustainable development of the Group’s business.

The Group’s ESG philosophy is to create long-term value for its stakeholders in alignment with the
strategic development and sustainability of its business. The Group is committed to maintaining a
rigorous corporate governance framework to promote and safeguard the interests of shareholders and
other stakeholders, thereby upholding the Group’s credibility and reputation. The Group will continue
to seek ways to develop our business in a more efficient and environmentally friendly manner and
remains steadfast in our mission to build an inclusive and sustainable society.

The Board continuously enhances its supervision over the Company’s ESG governance and increases
its engagement efforts. The Company sets annual environmental targets related to its business, and the
Board regularly reviews and discusses the establishment and progress of these targets. The Company
has adopted the Hong Kong Stock Exchange Environmental, Social, and Governance Reporting Code,
under which it carries out sustainability tasks in environmental protection, employee welfare, and
operational safety.

Throughout the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group maintained the same ESG management structure and
process as the last reporting period (from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, “2023” or “2023
Reporting Period”). The Group fully understands that ESG policies and practices may change over
time to reflect the changes in business operations, structures, technologies, laws and regulations, and
the environment. The Group thus continues to invest substantial resources to monitor ESG issues,
policies and practices and performance on an ongoing basis. Our ESG strategies, management policy
and approach are based on compliance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the principle
of sustainability and opinions from our key stakeholders. The Group’s visions and goals, and the ESG
management policy and approach can be summarized in the following statements:

1. The Group is committed to successfully undertaking its business, while providing strong returns
to our investors and supporters, mitigating risks associated with our operations, ensuring a
healthy and safe working environment to our employees, and contributing to sustainable
developments for the local communities and the Group.

2. The Board periodically approves and updates strategies and policies that incorporate the
environmental and social issues outlined in the ESG Reporting Code. The general manager is
responsible for ensuring that the Board’s approved targets and strategic directions are
effectively implemented in the Group’s ESG activities. To support this, the general manager is
responsible to monitor and review ESG issues, ensuring the recommendations of the ESG
Reporting Code are regularly followed and adopted. When necessary, independent professionals
and consultants have been and will continue to be engaged to conduct analysis and reviews
aimed at improving or resolving ESG-related matters.

3. To promote the comprehensive risk management within the Group, the Group has made a basic
assessment of relevant ESG risks through the Board’s extensive understanding of the business
and the communication with different stakeholders, and incorporated the relevant risks into the
risk management and internal control system.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group has compiled the ESG Report in accordance with the following reporting principles:

Materiality : The Group has identified the materiality of ESG topics by stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment. The details are explained in the
section of “Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative ; Under feasible situation, the Group recorded, calculated and disclosed
quantitative information and conducted comparisons with past
performance, if applicable. The calculation standards and methods for
the reporting of emissions/energy consumptions are disclosed together
with the data taken from relevant sections.

Consistency ; The methodology adopted for disclosing key environmental and social
performance indicators is consistent with that of the previous reporting
period.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

For the purpose of this report, the Group herein will review its core business activities and operations
in terms of their environmental and social objectives, policies and practices, and their impacts and
performances.

The reporting scope of the ESG Report focuses on the primary business, design, manufacture and sale
of children’s apparel and other apparel related products. Only factories located in Quanzhou City of
Fujian Province is covered since the factories are financially significant and operationally important to
the Group, constituting the centre for administration and policy making. As such operation in the PRC
is covered in both environmental section and social section in the ESG Report. The office-based
operation in Hong Kong only has a small workforce working in the finance and administration
department, its environmental implication is immaterial and as such is covered only in the social
section in the ESG Report. For the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group initiated a new segment focused
on trading of bulk commodity products. This new segment only generates minimal emissions and
therefore, the environmental section of ESG Report will exclusively disclose the ESG performances of
the apparel segment only.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group always values input and feedback of its stakeholders which are considered influential and
weight bearing to the overall interest and business of the Group. In this regard, the Group continues to
constantly communicate with its internal and external stakeholders to canvas their views and opinions
on not only ESG matters but also the Group’s operations and performance to address their concerns.
Regarding issues that are of concerns to the stakeholders, the Group seeks stakeholders’ opinions and
suggestions through scheduled and ad hoc conversations through various communication channels.
Internal meetings of the Group are conducted to report and discuss the feedback from the
stakeholders’ feedback, which will then be used as an important reference for the Group’s sustainable
development strategy. The Group continues to assign a board member and duty managers (the
“Management Team”) to constantly communicate with its stakeholders under the following established
channels in order to gain insights on ESG material aspects in the 2024 Reporting Period.

Stakeholders Communication Channels
Shareholders/ o General meetings
Investors o Information published on websites of the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
o Direct emails or phone enquiries
o Despatched documents
Employees o Direct meetings with the management executives
o Emails
o Annual and regular appraisal
o Organised functions and activities for the employees
Customers o Ad hoc communication meetings
o Email and phone contact
o Official websites
Suppliers/service providers o Day-to-day communication through front line staff
o Regular review of the signed arrangements by the management
Regulatory authorities o Cooperate on compliance inspections
o Regular submission of statements/documents required

(monthly/quarterly)

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Through regular communications with stakeholders and reviewing of the information collected, the
Group has identified the following ESG material areas and aspects indicated in the following table:

External Assessment (Impact on Stakeholders)

v

Internal Assessment (Impact on Business)

Subject Areas Subject Aspects

A1. Air emissions

A2. Use of Resources

A3. Environment and Natural Resources
A4. Climate Change

B1. Employment
B2. Health and Safety
B3. Development and Training

Environmental

Employment and Labour Practices

© B4. Labour Standards
é B5. Supply Chain Management
Operating Practices B6. Product Responsibility
B7. Anti-corruption
Community B8. Community Investment

The above ESG material areas and aspects have continued to be strictly managed and monitored
through the Group’s established management structure, process, policies and guidelines as described
in this ESG Report.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AREAS AND ASPECTS AND PERFORMANCE

(A)

ENVIRONMENTAL AREAS AND ASPECTS
Environmental Areas Overview

The Group continues to act as a responsible corporation and has abided by all the national and
local environmental laws and regulations. This is the bottom line and guiding principle of
business operation of the Group. Through the implementation of our “Green Environmental Policy
and Measures”, the Group aims at integrating our operations and activities with the environment
in a harmonious interaction by preventing pollution, achieving resource conservation and energy
saving, striving for waste reduction and keeping all negative impacts towards the environment to
a minimum.

Compliance of the relevant laws and regulation that have a significant impact

To establish and maintain policies and procedures to identify, evaluate and determine the
significance of environmental aspects and impacts by the Group and ensuring compliance with
all relevant national and local environmental laws and regulations of the PRC including but not
limited to:

J Environmental Protection Law of the PRC;

o Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the PRC;
o Water Pollution and Control Law of the PRC; and

o Atmospheric Pollution and Control Law of the PRC.

Products of the Group are designed and manufactured either in our factory in Quanzhou City,
Fujian Province or are subcontracted to other factories in the PRC. Our products are sold through
our distribution network throughout the PRC.

The Group does not own or operate our own transport fleet. All logistic and transport operations
are outsourced. In our manufacturing operations, raw materials include substantial quantities of
ready-made clothing fabrics and other accessories which are supplied by others. Normal
amounts of packaging materials commensurate with product and production requirements are
involved. These mainly include paper, carton boxes and wooden pallets.

Our production conceivably necessitates the normal use of electricity and an incidental amount
of water. The amount and rate of consumption of our resources are typical of other operators of a
similar scale in the garment manufacturing industry. Fresh water is used in the factory by the
workers for daily household consumption in their accommodations.

Being principally engaged in the garment production business, the Group does not produce,
emit or discharge any serious hazardous gas emissions, pollutants, polluted water or wastes.
Typical and consistent with other operators in the same industry, the manufacturing operation of
the Group generates only non-hazardous greenhouse gas emissions indirectly through the use of
electricity, and other general wastes including packaging materials, paper and clothing fabrics.
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In this regard, there are no laws and regulations which, in our view, are of significant impact to
our production operations. We have reiterated herein that we have complied with the national
and local environmental laws, and in the last 3 years, we did not receive any complaints, warning
and/or fines from any environmental authorities.

Procedures

(iif)

The Management Team shall identify and evaluate the environmental aspects for all work
activities that are most likely to give rise to significant environmental impacts.

The Management Team shall collaborate both internally and externally with relevant parties
to classify all relevant work activities into the following categories:

Normal: Routine activities or tasks performed as part of standard processes;
Unusual: Non-routine tasks that arise under unexpected circumstances; and

Emergency: Events that have a significant impact on the environment and require
immediate action such as major leakages, spillages and fires.

When identifying the environmental aspects, all activities likely to cause environmental
impact or improve general sustainability are considered including but not limited to the
following:

o Gas emissions;

o Water discharge;

o Waste disposal;

o Land contamination;

o Sustainability and the efficient use of raw materials, energy, water and other natural
resources;

o Other local environmental issues; and

o National and local laws and regulations.

The Management Team review the environmental aspects at least once every year. They
also update these aspects regularly in accordance with new laws and regulations, changes
in organizational work activities and processes, production systems or equipment, and
based on insights gained from incidents, accidents, organizational or external
requirements.
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(v)  For each environmental aspect, the Management Team shall identify and assess the
environmental impacts, and the following shall be considered:

o Global warming;

o Water pollution;

° Air pollution;

o Waste generation;

o Land/soil contamination;

o Noise pollution; and

o Natural resources conservation.

Environmental Aspects
A1. Air Emissions, Polluted Water and Waste Discharge Aspect
(i)  Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Air Emissions

The Group’s apparel manufacturing business does not involve major environmental
contamination risk. The Group is generally in compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to environmental
protection (including air and greenhouse gas emissions, water and land discharges,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste).

The only non-hazardous air emission is greenhouse gas emission, namely carbon
dioxide (“C0O,"”) emissions, generated indirectly through the use of electricity in the
production processes and in our offices for ordinary heating and lighting. As a result,
for the ESG reporting, the Group only disclosed the consumption of electricity in the
factory and headquarter office in Quanzhou City, Fujian Province.

Hazardous air emissions such as sulphur oxides (“S0, "), nitrogen oxides (“NO ") and
particulate matter (“PM”) are normally be discharged from direct use of diesel, petrol
and other fossil fuels. Same as the last 3 years, as the Group does not own a large
fleet of vehicles and has outsourced all its transport operations to third-party
transport operators, our petrol and other fossil fuel consumptions are insignificant.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group’s operations and activities generated a
total of approximately 1,011.05 tonnes of indirect CO, emissions from the use of
electricity by our factory and offices, which was approximately 102.19 tonnes or
about 11.24% more than 2023 Reporting Period. The increase in CO, emission was
owing to the increase in electricity consumption. For 2024 Reporting Period, CO,
emissions intensity was approximately 3.37 tonnes per employee.
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(ii)

(i)

(iv)

For 2024 Reporting Period, same as the last 3 years, the Group did not receive any
emission complaints or warning notices from the local communities and relevant
environmental agencies. With continuation of our CO, emission control measures, the
Group targets to have 2% drop for the coming year.

Water Pollution and Discharge

Our operations and activities do not require much use of fresh water in our
manufacturing process, other than that of the daily living uses of our staff and
employees in our factory, dormitories and offices. Therefore, our operations and
activities do not generate much polluted water. The fresh water used in our factory,
dormitories and offices are provided and discharged without any problems through
the respective centralized water supply and discharge network. Despite the
insignificant amount of fresh water consumption, the Group continues to be alert and
to educate the staff and workers to save and not to waste fresh water, one of the
most valuable natural scarce resources in the world nowadays. We have regularly
sent supervisors to inspect all the water taps to make sure that they have always
been turned off whenever not in use.

Same as the last 3 years, the Group did not receive any complaints or warnings from
the local community or related government agencies on our fresh water consumption
and polluted water discharge in the 2024 Reporting Period. We are confident that we
will achieve the same result in the coming year.

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes Discharge and Disposal

As reported in our ESG report for 2023 Reporting Period, the Group’s manufacturing
process only produces solid wastes in the form of residuals from the clothing fabrics
used, and packing materials of raw materials supplied, such as boxes, wood cartons
and plastic wrapping, and living wastes produced by workers living in the factory
dormitories. All these wastes are non-hazardous and are typical for garment
manufacturing operation. The former has been sold to small operators and
recyclable materials collectors on a regular basis, and the latter has been stored in
central rubbish depots and removed by the city urban cleaning services on a daily
basis at a fee.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, same as the last 3 years, the Group did not
receive any complaints or warnings on our wastes disposal. We are again confident
that we will continue with this clean and good record in the coming year.

Noise Pollution Emission

As reported in our ESG report for 2023 Reporting Period, the operation of the factory
does generate and emit noises from sewing machines and the central cooling
system, which is not too loud and disturbing and is all within national and local
environmental acceptable limits. Moreover, our factory site is located in an industrial
zone, and no residents are staying nearby. As such, the emitted noises do not cause
significant noise pollution to the surrounding environment and to the local residents.
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(v)

(vi)

Same as the last 3 years, we did not receive any complaints related to noise
emission in this 2024 Reporting Period. We are confident that we will continue to
have zero complaints in this noise pollution aspect in the coming year.

Light Pollution Emission

As reported in our ESG report for 2023 Reporting Period, since all our manufacturing
activities and operations are conducted inside the factory and offices, no significant
light pollution is created. We have complied with all the requirements of light
installation and emission, and no light pollution is caused.

In the 2024 Reporting Period, same as the last 3 years, there were no complaints or
warning notices related to light emission. We are again confident that we will
continue to have a clean and good record in the coming year.

Mitigation Measures and Reduction Initiatives

The Group’s manufacturing and sale operations and activities do not generate any
significant hazardous and non-hazardous emissions and discharges. As a
responsible corporation, we are conscious of the effects of our operations and
activities may have on the environment and constantly work on maximizing energy
efficiency and minimizing emissions, wastes generation, disposal and discharges.
We fully comply with all applicable environmental laws, rules and regulations and
industrial standards in the markets.

Emissions

The Group continued actively to promote energy saving and carbon reduction
projects. Given the straight-forward and simple manufacturing and office operations
of the Group, controlling and limiting the consumption of electricity is in our view the
biggest achievable target in this area. Electricity consumption is more or less directly
proportionated to our production scale and there is not much room for large scale
improvements. The Group, however, is committed to making savings. The Group is
contemplating to record and compare the electricity consumption of the production
factory and offices on a monthly basis as a monitor. All employees were constantly
reminded to use electricity wisely. In addition, other up-to-date energy saving
measures and devices will be looked into by the general manager in all areas of the
Group’s operation. They include use of energy saving devices, minimizing use of
electricity by administrative measures in conjunction with education and promotional
programmes. With a reduction in electricity consumption, the indirect CO, emissions
will automatically be reduced.
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Water consumption and discharge

On conserving fresh water and other natural resources especially on paper and
packaging materials consumptions, we have encouraged economical and recycling
use of resources to reduce wastes generation and to prevent resource wastage. In
response to the stakeholders’ concerns for the safety and sanitation management of
drinking water for the employees and the concerns of the international sustainable
trend about water resources, the Group’s water resource management policy aims at
gradually increasing the reuse rate of water resources in the factories and avoiding
excessive consumption of natural water resources in the medium and long term, in
addition to ensuring that water provided meets the specified water quality standards,
and that processing of discharged water is in compliance with the local discharge
regulations.

Use of natural resources and waste disposal

In response to the stakeholders’ concerns for the use or activities of natural
resources and waste disposal, the Group has conducted the procurement
management of raw materials. The Group not only requires material suppliers to
provide relevant material inspection and commitment for zero use of prohibited and
restricted substances, but also conducted sample tests for specific materials to
ensure that the quality meets the requirement. In addition, waste management
strategy of the Group’s factory and offices focus on the legal clearance, removal and
disposal, and reduction and reuse of wastes. The clearance, removal and disposal of
all the wastes must be carried out by government-certified service providers
according to the local laws and regulations.

To effectively control electricity, water and natural resources consumption, the Group
has implemented the most basic measures and policies, other than alerting and
educating the staff and workers on water, energy and natural resources
consumption, appointed officers to regularly inspect our factory, dormitories and
offices to ensure that (i) fresh water is not wasted and used reasonably and (ii)
power is turned off when work is not being carried out; and (iii) use of natural
ventilation to replace air-conditioning in allowable conditions. We fully comply with
all applicable environmental laws, rules and regulations and industrial standards in
the markets.

Use of Resources Aspect

The production and business operations of the Group do not entail a large variety of raw
materials and resources. Ready to use fabric is our main production material and
electricity is the principal resource required. A relatively small amount of water is used
incident to our apparel production. The major water consumption lies in the dormitories of
the employees for their general household uses like bathing and toilet flushing. While
recognizing the need for resource conservation, the Group is also mindful of the needs of
the employees for their health and hygiene purposes. We have a good balance to strike
and therefore, the policy of the Group is pretty simple and straight forward in this regard.
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There are a few small scale standby power generators in the factory which are meant to be
put into use when a sudden power failure of the city supply occurs. Given the improving
city supply reliability in the recent years, the need for the standby generators declines and
becomes insignificant. There is a small amount of diesel fuel consumption in this regard,
but the amount is insignificant and immaterial in comparison to electricity. Moreover, this
energy resource is for standby use and there is little that the Group can determine to
increase or decrease its consumption.

Although our operations and activities do not create significant impacts to the environment,
the Group is committed to acting responsibly and aiming at minimizing such impacts to the
environment and at the same time with cost saving as a bonus. The Group attaches great
importance to promoting resource conservation in electricity, fresh water, papers and
packaging materials. There are supervisory programmes on resource conservation
instigated. Responsible officers are appointed to inspect factories, dormitories and offices
to ensure that water, electricity and paper and other raw materials are efficiently used.

Same as the last 3 years, the Group did not find any abnormal or excessive uses of
resources including electricity and diesel, fresh water, paper and packaging materials
which were all within our internal control targets. Given our patience of education,
promotion and management, the Group is confident that we continue to have no abnormal
uses or wastage of electricity, water, paper and packaging materials in the coming year.

(i)  Direct and Indirect Electricity and Fuel Consumption
Electricity is the only energy resource consumed for its manufacturing, offices and
dormitories. Other energy resources like gas for heating are only very small in
amount in comparison and immaterial in our view. The Group only sources electricity
from the city grid. To save operational costs and to improve our environmentally
friendly footprint, the Group has implemented measures as mentioned before to
reduce energy consumption.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, the electricity consumption of our offices and
production factory were 225,823 kWh and 1,656,958 kWh respectively as compared
with 187,583 kWh and 1,406,921 kWh in the 2023 Reporting Period. The figures
generally reflected a normal rate of consumption same as with previous years and
do not have a cause for alarm. The figures recorded an increase of 288,277 kWh or
approximately 18.08% over 2023 on the electricity consumption in 2024. For 2024
Reporting Period, electricity consumption intensity was approximately 6,275.94 kWh
per employee.

For the coming year, we will continue to encourage and monitor our employees on
energy saving practices, and target to lower the electricity consumption by 2-3%.

(i)  Water Consumption

Same as before, there are 2 main sources in which water is used in the Group. Water
is only incidental in the production process as there is no bleaching or dyeing
carried out. The main consumption is for employee quarters household use. All the
fresh water supply is from the central water supply network which is reliable and
without any problem.
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(iii)

To save cost and conserve fresh water, the Group has encouraged our staff and
workers to efficiently use fresh water as it is one of the most important scarce
resources of the world. We have appointed supervising staff to regularly inspect the
kitchens, bathrooms and toilets, to ensure all facilities are in good condition and that
all the water taps have been turned off when they are not in use, and to check and
to immediately remediate any water leakage.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, same as the last 3 years, we did not find any
abnormal or wastage uses of fresh water.

For the coming year, we will continue to encourage our employees to save water
consumption with a target to reduce 1-2% water consumption.

Paper and Packaging Materials and other Raw Materials Consumption

To save operational costs and improve our environmentally friendly footprint, the
Group continues to implement the following measures to reduce paper and
packaging materials consumption reduction:

° Applying computer technology such as storage of documents in electronic
version, online signature system for document, review and signing,
communications via emails and messages to replace paper consumption;

° Encouraging staff to use both sides and recycled paper, reuse stationery such
as envelopes and document folders, and reduce the frequency of printing and/
or copying; and

° Recycled paper has been sourced and directly used for our garments and
apparels packaging.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, we used a total of 210 boxes (2.63 tonnes) of
paper during our operations, an increase of 5 boxes or approximately 2.44%
compared to 205 boxes used in 2023 Reporting Period.

As an apparel manufacturer, we use a substantial quantities of natural and synthetic
fibers, such as cotton, jute and nylon. The Group is conscious of the environmental
effects of the raw materials chosen and, as a guiding principle, we have always
encouraged our designers to choose and design with environmentally friendly
garments which use natural fibers.

For the coming year, we target to reduce the overall group paper consumption by
2-3% through the initiatives.

Environment and Natural Resources

As reviewed above, we have not polluted the air, water and land in the areas that we are
operating. As a dedicated operator who has keen interest in the environment and natural

resources, the Group ensures that such a belief is well implemented in our business

operation and in particular the production processes and products. We have complied with
all the national and local environmental laws, rules and regulations, and industry
standards, and at the same time have implemented measures to reduce energy, fresh
water, paper and packaging materials consumptions.
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A4.

In our manufacturing process, we used to use plastic and paper to pack our garments and
apparels. The management has already instructed the design team to source and use
recycled paper and to reduce plastic materials for packaging.

Given the nature of our clothing products, a substantial quantity of natural and synthetic
fibers, such as cotton, jute and nylon. are used. The Group is conscious of the
environmental impacts of the raw materials chosen for our final products. Designers and
production personnel have been instructed to design with environmentally friendly
garments and apparels by using natural fibers as far as the products allow.

We have also promoted environmental education and advocacy amongst our employees
with a purpose to motivating environmental friendly behavior across our organization. The
management is aware that conservation and monitoring of its resources as a continuing
practice will show benefits over time.

Climate Related Disclosure
(i)  Governance

The Group understands that stakeholders expect us to be managing and mitigating
climate change risks in line with local and global commitments and
recommendations. After communication with the stakeholders and reviewing of the
Group’s operations and activities in light with the current global environmental
conditions, the Board identifies that global warming and reduction on the use paper
and paper related packaging materials will be the most significant climatic issues
that may impact the Group. These two climatic issues not only affect the operation
costs of the Group, they will also affect the global environmental conditions.

It also is generally agreed that global warming is mainly caused by the excessive
release of CO, into the atmosphere, which is directly and indirectly the result of uses
of fossil fuels for transportation and electricity generation.

For 2024 Reporting Period, although the Group’s operations and activities did not
directly generate any CO, emission, we did generate CO, indirectly through the use
of electricity. Faced with the global climate change risks and the international trend
and challenge of reducing greenhouse gas emissions, as well as the possible hike of
energy consumption caused by the introduction of manufacturing processes such as
automation and technology garment making, the Group deeply understands the
needs to cooperate with the overall industry and its upstream and downstream
supply chain, to align with the national policies of each region, and to discuss with
brand customers and supply chain manufacturers about the new manufacturing
process technology for sustainable production, as well as new opportunities for
energy conservation and carbon reduction. We have implemented policies and
measures to use electricity efficiently to reduce indirect CO, emission, which is a
main contributor of global warming. Through reduction on usage of paper or
paper-related packaging materials, we wish to indirectly reduce the cutting of trees,
which will directly assist on curbing global warming as well.
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As the world transitions toward a lower-carbon sustainable economy, there are
inevitable areas that our Group can contribute to this area. After discussions with our
stakeholders, we have identified energy and water as immediate areas that we can
tackle to both combat climate change and reduce potential costs in the future.

Management’s Role:

1. Oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities is managed directly by the
Board. The CEO holds the overall responsibility for ensuring that the strategies
and policies set by the Board are effectively implemented across the
organization.

2. The Board is also responsible for the development of appropriate skills and
competencies through training programs, professional development
opportunities, and assessments of current capabilities. This ensures that the
board members and relevant personnel are well-equipped to oversee and
address climate-related risks and opportunities.

3. The Management Team, plays a critical role in the governance of
climate-related risks and opportunities. The Management Team is responsible
for examining and addressing climate related risks and opportunities, and day
to day implementation of policies set by the Board.

4. The Group utilizes various controls and procedures, such as internal audits,
performance reviews, and sustainability reporting, to support the oversight of
climate-related risks and opportunities. These controls and procedures are
integrated with other internal functions, such as finance, operations and human
resources, to ensure a cohesive approach to sustainability.

Strategy

We strive to understand the impacts brought by climate change to our business
operations and thus continuously seek to advance the relevant studies, as well as
our action plans and mitigation measures. Subject to the on-going development of
our climate-related risk assessment and management practices, we will further study
the feasibility and practicality of integrating the financial impacts of climate-related
risk and other sustainability issues into our financial planning at the corporate and
project levels.

Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as typhoons, heavy rain, thunder and
lightning and flooding that can cause physical acute risk. The potential
consequences include delivery or shipment delay as well as damage to documents,
equipment and even employees’ health and life. The above potential consequences
will cause economic losses to and increase operating costs of the Group.
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The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and minimize the
negative impact from extreme weather.

Physical Acute Risk

Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures

Typhoons —  Attach duct tapes to windows to avoid damage

—  Move equipment to safety areas in advance

- Reinforce equipment and components that may
be blown away

- Inform and negotiate with distributors and
third-party suppliers of potential delays in
advance

- Arrange work from home for staff according to
the guidelines of local observatory

Heavy Rain and Flooding —  Check that all windows are shut as secured as
possible

—  Reinforce equipment and assets which may be
damaged or blown away

- Arrange work from home for staff according to
the guidelines of local observatory

Thunder and Lightning - Keep good conditions of earthing devices
- Remind employees to save data and turn off
computers

Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as sustained high temperature
during the year could cause physical chronic risk. The potential consequences
include a higher chance of getting heatstroke for employees, increasing turnover
rate and work-related injuries. The demand for cooling for the working environment
will be increased, which may lead to an increase in power demand and operating
costs of the Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and minimize the
negative effects of extreme weather.
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Physical Chronic Risk

Extreme weather

Preventative and mitigation measures

Sustained high temperature

- Keep a First-aid kit conveniently
- Keep cold water available 24 hours a day

Climate-related Transition Risk

Transition risk Risk description Potential Business Mitigation Measures
Impact

Legal and policy |Local governments |-  Increase - Regular review of relevant

risk may enforce stricter operation cost legislation.
carbon emission and potential for
reduction policies, litigation. —  Set up near term target to
potentially raising demonstrate the Group’s
the carbon emission decarbonization effort.
costs for
enterprises’
production and
operations. This
includes changes to
government policies,
laws, and
regulations, such as
carbon pricing and
renewable electricity
pricing.

Technology Risk |Technological —  Failing to upgrade |-  Explore new technologies,
improvements that to more efficient, sustainable materials, and
support the sustainable, or techniques.
transition to a automated
lower-carbon technologies - Adapt to changes in the cost
system. could result in and availability of raw materials

higher operation and utilities like renewable

costs and electricity, water, and gas,

reduced including the relevant costs of

competitiveness. securing and maintaining
sufficient supply.
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Transition risk

Risk description

Potential Business
Impact

Mitigation Measures

Market and
reputation risk

Customers have
increasingly strict
requirements for
carbon emission
management of their
suppliers, while the
decarbonization of
products and
services may
become an
important standard
for customers to
choose from.
Products or services
that are not
low-carbon may lead
to a decrease in
demand.

There are stricter
requirements for
transparent carbon
emissions
information, and
enterprises need to
increase investment
in the management
of related
performance. Poor
performance in
climate information
disclosure may lead
to reputation
damage, declined
stock price, or
difficulties in
financing.

—  There will be a
risk of a decline
in sales and
reputation if
end-user is
getting more
prefer on
environmentally
friendly products
or services and
we do not have
these options for
our customers.

range to cater to a broader
audience and adapt to
changing customer
preferences, including
eco-friendly and ethically
produced lines to attract
environmentally conscious
consumers.

- Obtain environmental related
certifications to demonstrate
commitment to sustainability.
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(iif)

Climate-related Opportunities

The Group recognises that climate change not only presents a range of physical and
transitional risks, but also provides emerging opportunities for our businesses.
Measures such as improving energy efficiency, increasing the utilization of
renewable energy, transitioning to sustainable resource management practices, and
adopting green and low-carbon technologies have not only resulted in direct cost
savings but also a reduction in energy expenses.

Looking ahead, we anticipate the opportunities that will arise from long-term
regulatory frameworks and carbon trading. These mechanisms will enable us to
explore alternative approaches to combat climate change, leveraging sustainable
financial instruments. As the global economy transitions towards carbon neutrality,
we remain committed to assessing and managing the climate-related risks and
opportunities associated with our business.

Risk Management

We have updated the assessment methodology through a climate scenario analysis
to reassess climate risks and opportunities across our operations in the PRC under
two consolidated scenarios in accordance with Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”) recommendations. The two consolidated climate
scenarios are constructed based on public available scenarios which include
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (“IPCC”), International Energy Agency
(“IEA”) and Network for Greening the Financial System (*“NGFS”). Based on the
revaluation of our climate risk assessment results, we have updated our mitigation
measures across various operational area. The following outlines the scenarios and
assumptions employed during our climate risk assessment.

Consolidated Scenario |Brown Scenario Turquoise Scenario
Timeframe Short-term - till 2030
Medium to long-term — till 2100
Global Mean Global mean temperature | Global mean temperature
Temperature rises of above 3° C by 2100 |rises of 1.5°C to 2°C by
2100
Scenario Description The scenario represents the | The scenario represents the
future that only current future that stringent and
policies and nationally immediate policies will be

determined contribution are |implemented by the
implemented with limited companies that are actively
investments and climate committed to climate action
actions to decarbonize. This|goals. This would usually
would usually lead to high |result in high level of

level of physical risk and transition risks and low

low level of transition risk. |level of physical risks.
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(iv)

By gaining insight into the significant climate risks that affect our business across
our value chain, we can develop effective strategies and measures to manage these
risks and mitigate their financial and non-financial impacts. Within our framework, we
acknowledge climate change as a strategic business risk and have integrated
climate-related risks and opportunities into our overall business strategy. Our
objective is to enhance long-term resilience by comprehensively assessing,
managing, and monitoring climate risks that may impact our operations.

Metrics and Targets

We strive to effectively manage and evaluate the risks and opportunities arising from
climate change. Throughout the 2024 Reporting Period, we maintained continuous
monitoring of key metrics, specifically GHG emissions, which serve as indicators of
climate-related risks. These targets aim to reduce overall GHG emissions and
electricity consumption.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gases (“GHG”) include CO, and its non-hazardous equivalents including
nitrous oxide and methane (collectively with CO,, “CO,e"). Greenhouse gas
emissions comprise Scope 1 direct emissions, which is direct emissions from the fuel
combustion, and Scope 2 energy indirect emissions, which is emissions resulting
from the use of purchased electricity.

As explained in aforementioned, the Group’s operations and activities did not
directly generate any CO,e emission and no Scope 1 direct emissions reported
herein.

The table below recorded and compared the 2024 Reporting Period and the 2023
Reporting Period’s greenhouse gas emissions:

Year ended 31 December
Greenhouse Gas Emission#*o® (7 Unit
2024 2023| Changes
Scope 1 (CO.e) Tonnes N/A N/A N/A
Scope 2 (CO,e) Tonnes 1,011.05 908.87| +11.24%
Intensity
- CO,e/employee 3.37 3.17 +6.31%

Note 1: Emission factors for calculations in this ESG Report were made reference to the “How to
prepare an ESG Report-Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs (version
updated on 31 December 2024)” by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, unless
otherwise specified.

Our Group is dedicated to reduce GHG emissions. To achieve this goal, our Group
has set out some ground rules of using elasticities.

We target to reduce the greenhouse gas emission by 1-2% in the coming year
through monitoring our employees’ energy saving practices.
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Energy

During the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group generated indirect greenhouse gas -
CO, emissions, through the uses of electricity. As explained previously, we have
implemented policies and procedures to reduce the use of electricity across our
organization and we will continue to invest in new more energy efficient
manufacturing equipment and processes in the near future.

Water

Water is used both in our production process and by our employees in their
dormitories. The Group has taken measures to encourage employees to more
efficiently use water in order to reduce its consumption.

Logistics

In line with our climate change strategy, the carbon footprint and sustainability of
suppliers is an important consideration and we are actively seeking logistics partners
that utilize electric vehicles or close equivalents to minimize their own carbon
footprint where possible.

For the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group’s business operations and activities,
except for the above three aspects, did not lead to any events or issues that might
impact the climate or result in the change of the climate significantly. The Group also
has already taken measures to lower indirect CO, emissions and freshwater
consumption for the coming year.

SOCIAL AREAS AND ASPECTS

It is the belief and recognition of the Group that a harmonious relationship with our other
stakeholders including employees, business partners, government officials, customers and
suppliers will bring about more overall mutual benefits to every party including the society as a
whole. This rationale and idea together with transparency, mutual respect and honesty are the
cornerstone of our business philosophy and have been an integral part of our business
operation.

Pursuant to ESG Reporting Code, social aspects include “Employment and Labour Practices”
and “Operation Practices”, which are reported below:

(i)

Employment and Labour Practices Areas

The Group continues to hold the belief that employees are important assets and our
success depends on the commitment, passion, productivity and quality of our employees.
The Group has planned a holistic approach of recruitment, employment, training and
retention of employees. Team events are organized to build the employees’ sense of
belonging, as well as to increase the employees’ understanding of the Group. In addition,
the Group has ensured that all the human resource policies and measures made are in
accordance with all the relevant statutory requirements in the Labour Law of the PRC (%
AR MBI E)E) and other applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, and the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. Abiding by the law is the bottom line of our operating
guiding principle which is to be observed and followed by all levels. Our human resources
policies and measures are also clear, equitable and humanistic, and have committed to
create a safe and pleasant working environment for all of the employees. The Employees’
Handbook and employment contract contain clear provisions that no discrimination on
gender, religion, race and marital status in our operation activities including but not limited
to employment terms, promotion and welfare benefits.
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The performance management system has been introduced to effectively motivate the
employees to engage in continuous development, to help the employees in career
planning, and to achieve succession of talents and the Group’s objective of sustainable
operation. The Group is also committed to providing the employees with an equal, safe and
healthy work environment, complying with the local laws and regulations, as well as
fostering labor harmony and building a high quality enterprise.

Same as before, the Human Resources Department is charged with the duty and
responsibility of all employment and employee welfare matters. Recruitment and
appointment are based on objective merits. Qualified employees are offered the
appointment with competitive wages and benefits commensurate with the market rate.
Where necessary and required, training and promotion are provided. Position openings
stipulating with jobs requirements are offered in the open market or through employment
agencies. The selection process has been standardized and positions will be offered after
background checks, tests and interviews as necessary by our human resources
department. Recruitment of all employees is carried out by the Human Resources
Department except that senior managers are decided by the Chief Executive Officer
("CEO”) of the Group. It should be noted that, many of our positions are offered to
low-skilled or semi-skilled female rural workers who need extensive in-house training on
their work. Our policy is to try to provide a career path to enhance their sense of
belonging.

For 2024 Reporting Period, the Group honored all of our employment and labour welfare
obligations. All benefits, salaries and wages, employees’ social insurance and other
contractual benefits accrued or due are timely settled and paid out. Same as in previous
years, no labor disputes were recorded in court.

B1. Employment Aspect
(i) Employment Mix
As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 300 full-time
employees, and same as last year, no part-time employees were hired. Further
analysis of the Group’s employment situations for 2024 Reporting Period and
comparison with 2023 Reporting Period are summarised below:
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Figure 1. Employee mix by Gender
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Figure 2. Number of Employees by Employment Type
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Figure 3: Number of Employees by Role
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Figure 4. Number of Employees by Age
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Figure 5: Number of Employees by Geographical Region

(ii) Employment Turnover Rates
For the 2024 Reporting Period, 9 of the Group’s employees left voluntarily for
career development. A breakdown of the turnover rates by gender and age is
stipulated below:
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Figure 6: Employment Turnover Rate by Gender
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Figure 7. Employment Turnover Rate by Age
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(iii)
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Figure 9: Employment Turnover Rate by Geographical Region

Employee Compensation and Package

The Group continues to strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations
of the “Labor Law of the PRC” and “Employment Ordinances of the HKSAR”
and has totally forbidden the recruitment of child labor and forced labor. All
employees are required to sign contracts containing detailed terms and
conditions including but not limited to the amount of salaries and wages,
benefits, medical and accidental insurances, unemployment funds, working
hours, employee rights to join trade unions and have holidays and such
contracts are filed with the local Human Resource Bureau.

We paid competitive market salaries and wages to our employees, and for

special talented, skilled and qualified employees, we remunerated them either
by offering higher than market salaries and wages or additional benefits.
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In accordance with the requirements of the laws of the PRC and the HKSAR,
where appropriate, the Group provided and maintained statutory benefits to all
qualified employees, including but not limited to mandatory provident fund,
social security insurance, medical insurance, work injury insurance and
compensation and statutory holidays.

For the 2024 Reporting Period, same as 2023 Reporting Period, the Group did
not have any employment related legal disputes on record.

Health and Safety Aspect

Though the nature of business and production operation of the Group is not
considered to be high risk in nature, the Group attaches no less concern and
importance to the health and safety of the workplace and living quarters.

Caring of and concern for our staff and employees are the primary objective in our
employer responsibilities. The Group reckons that staff and employees are a
valuable asset and are instrumental to our sustainable development and success.

The Group has committed to providing a healthy and safe working and living
environment in the workplace and employee quarters. For the purpose of preventing
accidents and injuries to the employees, the Group has taken steps to ensure that all
the plants and equipment in the factory are safe for its intended use with proper
repair and maintenance. In addition, safety training and supervision are provided to
ensure that work can be carried out without risk and injuries. Emergency plans have
been in place to respond to general emergencies of various nature and scale.

Work safety instructions and guidelines are provided in the Employee Handbook to
accomplish safe operation and all employees are required to observe the safety
rules of the workplace. Supervisors at different levels have a responsibility to ensure
that safety rules and regulations are adhered to and complied with. Safety
information and instructions are integrated with day-to-day instructions, trainings and
guidance. All employees are required to report any risk spotted to their superiors
immediately, who will then take appropriate measures to ensure that safety is not
being compromised. All work-related accidents are required to be reported to the
immediate supervisor for investigation or appropriate remedial actions to be taken or
to remove the risk.

As a rule of thumb and guiding principle, the applicable standards in the relevant
National Safety Laws and Codes of Safety in PRC are the ones that the Group must
adopt and adhere to in our business operations. Strict compliance of such standards
and guidelines is a must and is our safety bottom line.
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During the 2024 Reporting Period, with no complacency, the Group is proud to
confirm that there had no work-related fatality in the past 3 years including the 2024
Reporting Period. Furthermore, during the 2024 Reporting Period, same as the 2023
Reporting Period, zero lost day due to work-related injuries was recorded. It should
be noted that this is due, in our view, mainly to the relatively low risk of our business
operation and the safety consciousness of the Group at all levels. For the coming
year, the Group will work hard to maintain zero fatality and injury record.

Development and Training Aspect

The Group recognizes the value and contribution of our employees and is committed
to investing in staff training and development.

The Group achieves its goals of training and development through systematic
frameworks and methods, constantly upgrades the quality of manpower and
expertise, motivates employees’ job enthusiasm and encourages them to welcome
challenges, thereby creating greater corporate value, achieving operational goals
and planning for future development. To achieve the policies and goals of the
Group’s training and development, it is necessary to consider not only the Group’s
business vision and objectives but also the assessment of employees’ performance
and achievements, capability deficiencies, as well as personal development plans.

Given the fact that most of our factory employees come from rural areas with little or
no prior production skills, the Group instigates a vocational training policy for new
production employees. They will receive 1 to 3 months on-the-job training under the
guidance and supervision of their supervisors.

The Group continues to arrange senior managers or professionals to provide
technical and occupational advice and guidance and short-term training to junior
staff. Staff members are also sponsored to attend external training programs relevant
to their work to improve their skills and knowledge. This is a way to broaden their
career development.

These training programs include production safety, fire-prevention, sales and
marketing and division management. The level and content of training are
considered suitable and adequate for operational needs and comparable to previous
years. New topics will be introduced where considered necessary by the operations
departments.

The Group aims to provide training for its employees as to retain talent and provide
an opportunity of growth.
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Labour Standards Aspect

The national labour protection laws and standards are the minimum safety standard
of the Group. The “Labour Law of the PRC” and “Employment Ordinances of the
HKSAR” are the two major labor safety protection laws applicable to the business
operations of the Group. Though the Group does not see any major impact to our
business operation, we however attach great importance and attention to ensure our
obligations are fully and timely carried out. Strict compliance of the legislative
requirements is our bottom line and guiding principle of our business operations.
Any breach of such national laws will be brought to the attention of the senior
management and attended to without delay.

We uphold the principle of equal pay for the same position regardless of gender,
race, religion, political affiliation, sexual orientation or marital status of the
employees. The remuneration of an employee will be determined with reference to
his/her educational background, experience, job duties, professional skills and
technical capacities, the salary levels in the industry as well as market conditions.
The basis of reward and promotion depends on an employee’s work attitude,
demonstration of professional ability and overall performance. The Group also
reviews the remuneration policies regularly to make sure our salary standards are
competitive.

The performance management system is introduced to assess an individual
employee’s performance, the results of which will be used as the basis for salary
adjustment and job promotion, thus helping the recruitment and retention of
well-performed employees.

Furthermore, the Group believes that honest and sincere mutual communication
between staff and management are constructive and effective in enhancing and
improving work safety. Measures and policies have already been in place to
encourage open dialogue on work safety in a regular and ongoing manner. Employee
representatives have been invited to take part in regular work safety meetings to
contribute ideas and suggestions in areas like working conditions, health and safety
and employment terms and conditions.

All recruitments are done after the proper certificates and documents are provided
and documented in the Human Resources Department. Private files of employees are
kept on confidential basis and only available for inspection with the approval of the
authorized officer.
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The Group has also committed to a no child labour and forced labour employment
policy. The role and responsibilities of the Human Resources Department are to
ensure that such infringements are not and should not be committed as a first line of
upholding this policy. The department will be held responsible for any breaches
found and the relevant officer will be subject to severe action taken against him or
her. All enquiries, concerns, complaints in this regard will be referred to and
investigated by the senior management.

For the 2024 Reporting Period, same as 2023 Reporting Period, the Group honored
all its obligations towards the employees and has built a safe, healthy, harmonious
and pleasant working environment in all our offices, and no labor disputes or
litigations was reported.

(ii) Operation Practices Areas

B5.

Supply Chain Management Aspect

Supply chain management in the ESG Reporting Code mainly refers to the
management of sourcing and procurement. The Group mainly procures raw and
packaging materials including clothing fabrics and accessories to produce apparel,
for factory production and printing papers and office utensils for offices uses. The
Group has connected the upstream and downstream of the apparel manufacturing
industry, covering relevant areas in machineries, chemical engineering and materials
to form a complete supply chain system of the Group. By focusing on local and
flexible supply, we expect to shorten our delivery time and respond quickly to the
market demand, thereby enhancing brand reputation and customer satisfaction

Over the years, the Group has already developed a matured set of procurement
policy and a standardized procurement process. Given a relatively simple business
operation nature of the Group, the Group maintains a list of suppliers. For any
purchases, 2 to 3 suppliers are invited to provide quotations for our selection and
decision. Suppliers are selected on a set of criteria, which includes (i) ability to meet
specification and standards; (ii) products and services quality; (iii) pricing; (iv)
delivery reliability; (v) track records of the suppliers’ business relationships with us
and others in the industry; and (vi) their law compliance record.

One unique feature in our purchasing policy is that we have tried to integrate social
responsibility into our purchase process. We provide preferential status to local
suppliers who show support and involvement in environmentally friendly and socially
responsible practices and programmes. The Group prefers suppliers that use
recyclable and natural materials and employ handicapped workers.
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Same as last year, we source our raw materials and accessories from local supplies.
This directly reduces the carbon footprint involved and carbon dioxide emission.
During the 2024 Reporting Period, all purchases were made with 15 (2023: 15) local
suppliers which are the suppliers based in the same geographical market (the PRC)
as the Group.

The choice and selection of a supplier for a certain purchase order followed the
purchase criteria as mentioned above. Normally, a decision is arrived at after
examining and weighing the various selection criteria. In general, no single value or
criterion will be overriding. In some rare cases, however, some criteria, for example
the availability at short notice, may become overriding and is judged and handled on
a case-by-case basis.

As can be seen, social risks of a supplier are also part of our selection criteria and
consideration. When a supplier is found seriously fall foul of the law, it will be
removed from the supply chain and new ones will be sourced and established.
Admittedly, the Group will have to rely on public information in the main or other
trade sources. We rely on the quality of our end products to ensure that raw
materials or accessories measure up to our specification and standard.

The product policy of the Group is to promote and manufacture children’s apparels
using natural and safe materials which are environmentally friendly and without risk
to the end users. Obviously and naturally, this becomes an overriding and guiding
principle in selecting preferable products and services. Materials and accessories
failing to safety to our specification and requirements are rejected and declined
automatically in the selection process.

Product Responsibility Aspect

There are five major aspects to our Group’s product responsibility policies and
practices: product quality and safety, quality assurance, customer services and
complaints handling, intellectual property rights, and customer data and privacy.

The Group continues to design, manufacture and sell children’s apparel, via
distributors across China. Together with our investment in modern production
facilities, our professional design and management team, and the business and
operation philosophies of “original, modern and fashionable on design”, “quality of
production” and “fairness and honesty on sales”, it is our cornerstone sale policy
that we assure the buyers to pay for guaranteed quality products.
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Product Quality and Safety

The Group continues with its “quality guarantee policy” and takes all reasonable
steps to ensure that the goods we produced are safe and harmless to consumers,
meet all agreed or legally required standards for consumer health and safety,
including health warnings, product safety and information labels. We have employed
controllers to examine the quality and safety of our products from the first stage of
raw materials purchases to the final stage of sales and to regularly inspect goods at
our production lines to ensure that they are compliant with both internal and external
quality assurance codes.

For the 2024 Reporting Period, same as the last 3 years, there were no record of
major sales returns from buyers or complaints or warnings from the Consumer
Councils or relevant government authorities on the quality and safety issues of our
products.

Quality Assurance Process

As disclosed before, the Group attaches significant importance to the quality
assurance aspect of our products as we firmly believe that this is the most important
factor for the success of our brand name, the Group reputation and customer loyalty.
The Group has invested substantially on modern production facilities, and our
professional design and management team. The Group has obtained ISO9001 on
Quality Management System and ISO14001 on Environmental Management System
certifications, and won the following awards since our official establishment in 1995:

1995 Golden Bridge Award from China Textile Association

2000, 2006, 2009 & 2010 Fujian Famous Brand Award

2001, 2002 & 2005 Government Supported and Developed Famous
Exeort Brand Award

2013 National Top-Quality Enterprise Award

2011, 2013 & 2016 Most Famous Kids Fashion Brands Award

We provide industry standard guarantee and instigate a policy for return and refund
for product quality reasons. The customer service unit is charged to collect and
analyse return and reject cases, and to provide recommendations to the
management for improvement review and consideration. All our mangers have been
trained to handle customer complaints.

Same as in previous years, we are proud that we had no major sales returns or
complaints due to product defects during the 2024 Reporting Period.
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Customer Services and Complaints Handling

Same as the last few years, our products are sold through wholesale
network. The Group provides industry standard guarantees and returns
and refund programs if there are quality problems. All our mangers have
been trained to handle defects and complaints. A customer service unit
has been established to collect and analyse returns and rejects cases,
and thereafter will explain and give recommendations to the
management for improvement review and consideration.

The Group is proud to confirm that there were no major sales returns or
complaints due to any product defects during the 2024 Reporting
Period, same as the last 3 years.

Intellectual Property Rights

Since our establishment, the Group has designed, manufactured and
sold children apparel under its trademarked brand name “Red Kids”. We
promote originality on all our apparel and design in-house. The Group
attaches great importance to and seriousness in protecting and
preserving our intellectual property rights. We have observed the rules
for the protection of intellectual right. The Group will continue to enhance
the production optimization capabilities in various regions and continue
to enhance the maximum flexibility in production configuration in line
with the requirements of orders from brand customers and changes in
the industry environment.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, and same as last few years, the
Group did not receive any reports or cases of any intellectual property
rights infringement.

Privacy

Arising from the Group’s business operations, large volumes of private
and confidential and sensitive information of suppliers, co-operation
partners including the cooperation status, financial positions and
commercial terms of contracts are inevitably kept by the Group. The
Group is fully aware that such information is extremely sensitive and
important, and by law must be safeguarded.

The Group is fully aware of our obligations and has taken measures to
ensure the safe custody of such information. Potential leakage or loss of
information to outsiders could be mainly due to either internal theft
through mishandling or hacking into our information systems by outside
agents.
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The Group has established and implemented administrative security rules and
supervisory control procedures to ensure maximum information technology security
and data protection. This is supplemented by the relevant provisions in the Employee
Handbook and employment contracts stipulating for the protection of information
confidentiality. Employees are strictly prohibited from accessing to or release of
confidential information without authorized approval from the management. Legal
action might be taken against any breach of privacy data violations. To prevent
hacking to our information technology systems, the Information Technology Division
is charged with the duty and responsibility of continuously monitoring, maintaining
and updating all hardware, software and for computer and network system security.

For the 2024 Reporting Period, same as the last 3 years, there was no case filed
against us nor any complaint received, regarding any breach of relevant privacy
laws, regulations and policies in the jurisdictions in which we operate. The Group will
continue with the current policies and measures to maintain a clean record in the
coming years.

Anti-corruption Aspect

As an honest and creditable business operation, the Group attaches serious
importance and concern in this aspect as any breaches may lead to serious
consequences and liabilities to individual officers and office bearers of the Group.
We rely on the strict administrative procedures and supervisory measures on this
regard to ensure that such breaches or violations are eliminated or could be
detected at an early stage before any serious harm is caused.

A system with good moral integrity and anti-corruption mechanism is the cornerstone
for the sustainable and healthy development of the Group. The Group is generally in
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering, including but not limited to:

o the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC;

° the Criminal Law of the PRC;

° the General Provisions of the Civil Law of the PRC; and

o the Anti-money Laundering Law of the PRC.
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The Group’s “Work Rules” requires the employees to sign the “Code of Ethics and
Integrity Pledge” and the “Confidentiality Undertaking” and to strictly adhere to the
applicable laws and regulations relating to the above acts. Once an employee is
found in breach of such, it is subject to severe disciplinary sanction including
immediate dismissal. All matters relating to this aspect are only handled by the top
management. The Group is committed to rendering all possible assistance and
co-operation to the government or law enforcing agencies in their enquiry or
investigation.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, there was no case on corrupt practice against the
Group or our employees detected, same as the previous years. With our
management, the Group is confident that corruption case will not happen.

Mutual respect, open and sincere dialogues between employees and the
management are part of the culture of the Group. The periodic meetings between
employee representatives are the common and formal venues to resolve employee
needs, views, suggestions and even grievances. This mode of communication in a
fair and earnest manner helps to streamline and minimize whistle-blowing. The Group
encourages all whistle-blowing acts and activities and makes sure that there are
sufficient protection of such whistle blowers. Messages received will be looked into
by the management team at the appropriate level in a timely and impartial manner.

Staff are reminded from time to time of the importance of and need for business
integrity and that corruption is not allowed in the Group operations. Whenever
training opportunities arise, staff at the appropriate levels, including directors and
senior managers, will be nominated to attend and this is an ongoing exercise.

(iii) Community Area

BS.

Community Investment Aspect

As a responsible enterprise, the Group always insists to undertake its social
obligations to support and to pay back to the local residents, community and
environment. The Group fully supports this concern for the community idea and
concept and our operating policies and business approach are taking note of its
implications and significance to the communities we operate. If possible, we tried to
source materials, supplies and services from our operating communities. We
provided a pleasant and safe working environment to our workers, and most
importantly we provided jobs to several hundred village unskilled workers and
trained them up to make a decent living. We also provided them with the chances to
promote to higher status jobs. We supported the local community through sending
our workers to do voluntary and charity works.
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The Board hereby presents the Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance and has steered
its development and protected the interests of its shareholders in an enlightened and open manner.
During FY2024, the Board comprised of four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The Board has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). During FY2024, the Company has complied with the CG Code, except for the
deviation as explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of Chairman and Chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. As Mr. Ding Peiji (“Mr. Ding”) is both the chief
executive officer and the chairman of the Board of the Company, the Company is in deviation from
code provision A.2.1. The Company considers that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in Mr. Ding has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and
enabling more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by current Board composition and structure taking into account the background and
experience of the Directors.

Code provision C.1.2 provides that management should provide all members of the Board with monthly
updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the issuer’'s performance, position and
prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules. During FY2024, the management of the
Company had not provided regular monthly updates to the members of the Board. The management
had provided information and updates to the members of the Board as and when appropriate.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY THE DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. Specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and all Directors
have confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code during FY2024.

Senior management who, because of their office in the Company, are likely to be in possession of
inside information, have also been requested to comply with the provisions of the Securities Dealing
Code when dealing in the Company’s shares.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible leadership for the Company. The
Directors, individually and collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the Company and
its Shareholders. The Board has established three Board committees, being the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee (each a “Board Committee” and collectively
the “Board Committees”), to oversee different areas of the Company’s affairs.
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The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, namely Mr. Ding Peiji, Mr. Ding Peiyuan,
Ms. Liu Min and Mr. Yu Jianjun, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ng Shing
Kin, Mr. Chen Jun and Mr. Guo Zheng.

Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family relationships are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors” on pages 58 to 59 of the annual report. A list of the
Directors identifying their role and function and whether they are independent non-executive Directors
are available on the Company’s website.

The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating and
financial performance and reviews the corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, major transactions, director appointments or re-
appointments, investment policy, dividend and accounting policies. The Board has delegated the
authority and responsibility for implementing its business strategies and managing the daily operations
of the Group’s businesses to the executive Directors and members of senior management. The
functions and power that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain
appropriate.

The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices on
corporate governance and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group, and the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management. The Board also reviews the
disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report to ensure compliance.

All Board members have separate and independent access to the Group’s senior management to fulfill
their duties. Independent professional advice can be sought to assist the relevant Directors to
discharge their duties at the Group’s expense upon their request.

All Directors are required to declare to the Board upon their first appointment, the directorships or
other positions they are concurrently holding at other companies or organizations. These interests are
updated on an annual basis and when necessary.

BOARD MEETINGS AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and annual general meeting are set out below:

Annual General
Meeting Board Meetings

Name of Directors attendance/held attendance/held
Mr. Ding Peiji 1/1 717
Mr. Ding Peiyuan 11 7/7
Ms. Liu Min 1/1 7[7
Mr. Yu Jianjun (appointed on 28 June 2024) 0/0 2/2
Mr. Ng Shing Kin 11 77
Mr. Chen Jun 1/1 77
Mr. Guo Zheng 1/1 7[7
Mr. Chan Yi Hsiung (resigned on 28 June 2024) 1/1 5/5
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance coverage has been arranged in respect of potential legal actions against the
Directors and officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are aware of their responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their duties with
care, skill and diligence, in pursuit of the development of the Group. Every newly appointed Director
receives an induction to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and operations of
the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his duties and responsibilities as a director under
applicable rules and requirements.

All Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s performance and financial position to
enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, updates on the
latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are
provided to each of the Directors by way of seminars or reading materials circularization to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. According to the
records provided by the Directors, a summary of training received by the Directors during the year is
as follows:

Type of

continuous

professional

development

Directors programmes

Executive Directors

Mr. Ding Peiji

Mr. Ding Peiyuan

Ms. Liu Min

Mr. Yu Jianjun (appointed on 28 June 2024)

> > > >

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Shing Kin

Mr. Chen Jun

Mr. Guo Zheng

> > >

Note:

A: reviewing materials and updates relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to provide independent and objective opinions
to the Board, giving adequate control and balances for the Group to protect the overall interests of the
Shareholders and the Group. They serve actively on the Board and its committees to provide their
independent and objective views.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors, representing more than one-third of the Board. One of the
independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Each independent non-executive Director has submitted confirmation of his/her independence to the
Company pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmations, the
Company considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. Each Board Committee has its defined and written terms of
reference approved by the Board covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms of reference
are available on the Company’s website.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, including access
to management or professional advice if considered necessary.

(i) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Shing
Kin, Mr. Chen Jun and Mr. Guo Zheng. Mr. Ng Shing Kin, who has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience in accounting matters, was appointed as the Chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control and risk
management systems and relationship with external auditors of the Group, oversee the audit
process and perform other duties and such responsibilities as assigned by the Board. These
include reviewing the Group’s interim and annual reports.

The Audit Committee has held three meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024. Major
tasks completed by the Audit Committee during the year include:

o reviewing the annual audit plan submitted by the external auditors of the Company;

o reviewing the Group’s interim and annual reports;

o reviewing accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group;

o reviewing the external auditor’s qualifications, independence and audit fee;

o reviewing the external auditor’s management letter and the management’s response; and
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(ii)

o assisting the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of financial reporting procedures and
internal control system.

The attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are set out in the following
table:

Audit Committee
meetings
attendance/held

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Shing Kin 3/3
Mr. Chen Jun 3/3
Mr. Guo Zheng 3/3

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Guo Zheng, Mr. Chen Jun and Mr. Ding Peiyuan. Mr. Guo Zheng
is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The principal responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are to review and make recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration structure and policy for all Directors and senior management as well as the specific
remuneration packages for the executive Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent process for developing such remuneration policy. No
Director takes part in any discussion on his own remuneration. The Company’s objective for its
remuneration policy is to maintain fair and competitive packages based on business
requirements and industry practice. In order to determine the level of remuneration and fees paid
to members of the Board, market rates and factors such as each Director’'s workload,
performance, responsibility, job complexity and the Group’s performance are taken into account.

The Remuneration Committee has held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024.
All members of the Remuneration Committee have attended the meetings and reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure relating to the Directors and senior management of the
Company.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group by band for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration bands Number of persons

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3

Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to
be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements.
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(iii) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Chen Jun, Mr. Ng Shing Kin and Ms. Liu Min. Mr. Chen Jun is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee. The principal responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are to review the composition of the Board, including its structure, size and diversity
at least annually to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to
the requirements of the business of the Group. It is also responsible to consider and recommend
to the Board suitably qualified persons to become a member of the Board, monitor the
succession planning of Directors and assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors. The Nomination Committee will also give consideration to the Board Nomination Policy
and Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) when identifying suitably qualified candidates to
become members of the Board, and the Board will review the Board Nomination Policy and
Board Diversity Policy (as defined below), so as to develop and review measurable objectives for
the implementing the Board Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) and
to monitor the progress on achieving these objectives.

The Nomination Committee has held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024. All
members of the Nomination Committee have attended the meetings and reviewed the size,
diversity and composition of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Company’s corporate governance function is carried out by the Board pursuant to a set of written
terms of reference adopted by the Board on 16 December 2013 in compliance with provision D.3.1 of
the Code Provisions, which include (a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to develop, review
and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group
and the Directors; and (e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions and relevant
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the annual report of the Company.

The Board has performed the abovementioned corporate governance functions during the year ended
31 December 2024.

BOARD PROCEEDINGS

Regular board meetings are held at quarterly intervals with additional meetings convened as and when
necessary to discuss the overall strategic directions, the Group’s operations, financial performance,
and to approve interim and annual results and other significant matters. For regular meetings, Board
members are given at least 14-day prior notice, and agenda with supporting papers sent to Directors
not less than 3 days before the relevant meeting is held. Directors may propose to the Chairman or the
Company Secretary to include matters in the agenda for regular board meetings.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in any proposals or

transactions to be considered by the Board at board meetings and abstain from voting in favour of the
related board resolutions as appropriate.
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Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are kept by the Company Secretary in
sufficient details of the matters considered and decisions reached, including dissenting views
expressed, and are open for inspection on reasonable notice by any Director. Draft and final versions
of minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments and records respectively within a reasonable
time after the board meeting is held.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring
the Board procedures are followed.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing on the Listing Date and will continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other which
notice shall not expire until after the fixed term. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the appointment. Each of the Directors will be subject to retirement and re-election at annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, a person may be appointed as a Director
either by the Shareholders in general meeting or by the Board. Any Directors appointed by the Board
as additional Directors or to fill casual vacancies shall hold office until the next following general
meeting, and are eligible for re-election by the Shareholders. In addition, all Directors are required to
retire by rotation at least once every three years at the annual general meeting, and are eligible for
re-election by the Shareholders.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee shall endeavor to find individuals of high integrity who have a solid record
of accomplishment in their chosen fields and who possess the qualifications, qualities and skills to
effectively represent the best interests of the Group and its shareholders. Candidates will be selected
for their ability to exercise good judgment, and to provide practical insights and diverse perspectives.
Candidates also will be assessed in the context of the then-current composition of the Board, the
operating requirements of the Group. In conducting this assessment, the Nomination Committee will, in
connection with its assessment and recommendation of candidates for director, consider diversity
(including, but not limited to, gender, race, ethnicity, age, experience and skills) and such other
factors as it deems appropriate given the then current and anticipated future needs of the Board and
the Company, and to maintain a balance of perspectives, qualifications, qualities and skills on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee considers the following qualifications at a minimum to be required of any
Board members in recommending to the Board potential new board members, or the continued service
of existing members:

o the highest professional and personal ethics;

o broad experience in business;

o ability to provide insights and practical wisdom based on their experience and expertise;

o commitment to enhancing shareholder value;

o sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties and their service on other boards of public

companies should be limited to a reasonable number;
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o compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

o ability to develop a good working relationship with other Board members and contribute to the
Board’s working relationship with senior management of the Group.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
on 16 December 2013. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members. While all Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis, the Company will
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the needs of the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge.

The Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of directors who have direct experience in
the Group’s core markets and distribution channels. The ultimate decision will be based on the merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard to the benefits
of diversity on the Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing on a single diversity aspect.

The Board considered that Independent Directors can enhance the effectiveness and decision-making
of the Board by providing independent view, objective judgement and constructive challenge to the
Board and management of the Group.

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and also the needs of the Board
without focusing on a single diversity aspect.

Having reviewed the Board composition, the Board recognises the importance and benefits of gender
diversity at the Board level and shall continue to take initiatives to enhance the gender diversity among
the Board members.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Pang Wing Hong was appointed as a Company Secretary of the Company since 19 October 2015
and also serves as the secretary of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Pang is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or
the Chief Executive Officer on governance matters.

Mr. Pang confirmed that he has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 December 2024 in accordance with the provisions under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Financial reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s financial statements which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and cash flows for the year and in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board, and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The Company has selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them consistently
based on prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates. The Board considers that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future and is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may affect the business of the Company or cast
doubts on its ability to continue as going concern.

The responsibilities of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, the Company’s external auditors, with
respect to financial reporting are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this
annual report.

Internal control

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems to safeguard the investments of the shareholders and the assets of the Company. However, it
should be noted that the Company’s risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board monitors the risk management and internal control systems principally through the external
professional adviser, and is committed to conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

The external professional adviser is assigned with the task to perform reviews on operational, financial
and compliance aspects and will alert the management on the review findings or irregularities, if any,
advise on the implementation of necessary steps and actions to enhance the internal control systems
of the Group. The result of internal control review and agreed action plans are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees payable to HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited in
respect of its audit services were RMB0.8 million (2023: RMBO0.8 million). There was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the external auditors
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company aims to, via its corporate governance structure, enable all its Shareholders an equal
opportunity to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow all Shareholders to engage actively
with the Company. Under the Company’s articles of association, the Shareholder communication policy
and other relevant internal procedures of the Company, the Shareholders of the Company enjoy,
among others, the following rights:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Participation at general meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for direct communication between
the Board and the Shareholders. The Company encourages the participation of the Shareholders
through annual general meetings and other general meetings where the Shareholders meet and
exchange views with the Board, and to exercise their right to vote at meetings. The Company
shall arrange notices of meetings and circulars containing details on proposed resolutions to be
sent to the Shareholders no less than 20 business days before the meeting. At general meetings,
separate resolutions are proposed on each substantial issue, including the election of individual
Directors.

Enquiries and proposals to the Board

The Company encourages Shareholders to attend Shareholders’ meetings and make proposals
by either directly raising questions on both operational and governance matters to the Board and
Board Committees at the general meetings or providing written notice of such proposals for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the registered office of the Company in Hong Kong
currently situated at Room 1601, Ho King Commercial Centre, 2-16 Fa Yuen Street, Mongkok,
Kowloon, Hong Kong or via email to ir@redkids.com.

Convening extraordinary general meetings

The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall
be made in writing to the Directors or the Company Secretary and deposited at the registered
office of the Company in Hong Kong currently situated at Room 1601, Ho King Commercial
Centre, 2-16 Fa Yuen Street, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Directors for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Directors fail to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Directors shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of association or the Companies Law, Cap
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for
Shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal of a person for
election as director. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene an
extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.
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The notice of annual general meeting together with the accompanying circular setting out the
relevant information as required under the Listing Rules are sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear
business days prior to the meeting. Poll voting has been adopted for decision-making at
Shareholders’ meetings to ensure that each share is entitled to one vote. Details of the poll
voting procedures are set out in the circular sent to Shareholders prior to the meeting and
explained at the commencement of the meeting. Voting results are posted on the Company’s
website on the day of the annual general meeting.

(iv) Procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 85 of the articles of associations of the Company, no person other than a
Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be
eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a Notice signed by a Member
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such Notice is given of his intention to propose such person for election and also a Notice
signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at
the head office or at the Registration Office provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such Notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that (if the Notices
are submitted after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election) the period for lodgment of such Notice(s) shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Company recognises the importance of communication with Shareholders and accountability to
Shareholders. Annual and interim reports offer comprehensive operational and financial performance
information to Shareholders. The Company’s senior management also maintains close communication
with investors, analysts and the media by other channels including roadshows, briefings and individual
meetings. The Company has set up its own website http://www.redkids.com, which is updated on a
regular basis, as a means to provide updated information on the Company to investors.

The Company has reviewed the Shareholders’ communication policy and believes that the Company
has provided investors with multiple channels for investors to understand the Group’s business and
operations, as well as channels for investors to express their opinions and comments. The Company
also actively responded to the feedback from investors. Based on this, the Company believes that the
Shareholders’ communication policy implemented during the year is sufficient and effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ding Peiji, aged 55, is the founder of the Group. He is also the chief executive officer and the
chairman of the Board of our Company. He was appointed as an executive Director on 15 March 2013.
He is also the chairman of board of directors of Red Kids (China) Co., Ltd. (‘Red Kids China”), a
principal operating subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Ding has over 25 years of experience in the apparel
and retail industry and is primarily responsible for our overall corporate strategies, planning and
business development. His social undertakings include the vice Chairman for the second term of the
Children’s Wear Expert Committee of China National Garment Association(FEfREHEEXZXETE
) appointed in September 2009, the vice president for the first and second term of the Quanzhou
Textile & Garments Commerce Chamber (iR /N 71 47 4% AR % 7 € ) appointed in May 2002 and November
2008, respectively, a standing council member for the first term of the Federation of Industry &
Commerce of Quanzhou Qingmeng Scientific & Technological Industrial Zone (RN T B SR T X E &
THE¥BA<2) appointed in August 2002, and a Supervisor of Qingmeng Scientific & Technological
Industrial Zone for Honest and Efficient Governance (&R EHE T ¥ @ E) B EK E & 8 ) appointed in July
2002. He completed the Advanced Management Programme by China Europe International Business
School (FEIEIF TE£6c)in 2010.

Mr. Ding Peiji is the brother of Mr. Ding Peiyuan, who is the executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Ding Peiyuan, aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director and chief operating officer on 16
December 2013. He is also the vice general manager of Red Kids China. Mr. Ding has over 20 years of
experience in the production and sales of apparel and retail industry and is primarily responsible for
the formulation and execution of business development strategies of the Group. He completed the
Advanced Management Programme by China Europe International Business School (# EX B[R T 7 2z )
in 2009.

Mr. Ding Peiyuan is the brother of Mr. Ding Peiji, being our executive Director.

Ms. Liu Min, aged 49, was appointed as an executive Director of our Company on 4 August 2023.
Ms. Liu has over 25 years working experience in senior management position and has served for
supply chain management and technology industries. Ms. Liu is currently the senior manager of a
private limited company and responsible for supply chain management and financial related matters.
Ms. Liu holds a Bachelor of accountancy from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in the PRC.

Mr. Yu Jianjun, aged 54, was appointed as an executive director of our Company on 28 June 2024,
Mr. Yu has over 25 years working experience in senior management position and has served for
various industries including but not limited to supply chain management. Mr. Yu is currently the
operation in-charge of a private limited company and responsible for supply chain management. Mr. Yu
holds a Bachelor of Economics from Chongging University of Technology (formerly known as
Chongging Institute of Industrial Management).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Shing Kin, aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of our Company
on 5 July 2022. Mr. Ng has over 17 years of experience in audit and accounting. Mr. Ng was granted
the designation of financial risk manager by the Global Association of Risk Professionals (FRM®) in July
2008 and was admitted as a member of the HKICPA in January 2012. He was also admitted as a
member The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in June 2020, a member of
Associate of Chartered Certified Accountants in July 2020, a member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants in August 2023 and a member of ESG Certified Professional (ESGCP®) by
The Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies in December 2024. Mr. Ng is currently a practicing
certified public accountant in Hong Kong.

From November 2015 to December 2023, Mr. Ng worked as the financial controller and company
secretary of Jin Mi Fang Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Royal Group Holdings
International Company Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8300).
From January 2024, Mr. Ng continued to serve as the financial controller and company secretary under
an external professional services contract of Redford Business Advisory Services Limited. Mr. Ng has
been the company secretary of Ying Hai Group Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which is
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8668), since February 2019. Mr. Ng is currently an
independent non-executive director of WMCH Global Investment Limited, the shares of which is listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8208).

Mr. Ng was a company secretary of WT Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8422) from March 2021 to July 2021 and a company secretary of Jiujiuwang
Food International Limited, the shares of which is listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1927) from June 2021 to December 2023.

Mr. Ng obtained a honours diploma in business administration from Hong Kong Shue Yan College in
July 2005 and a master degree in business administration from the University of Louisiana, Monroe
through long distance learning. In November 2007, Mr. Ng further obtained a postgraduate diploma in
professional accounting from Hong Kong Baptist University.

Mr. Chen Jun, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of our Company on
31 October 2022. Mr. Chen obtained a Bachelor of Economics from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics in the PRC in 1991. Mr. Chen is a practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is currently the vice president of a private limited company and responsible for
internal control. Mr. Chen has over 30 years of extensive experience in general management,
investment, finance, accounting and auditing in different industries.

Mr. Guo Zheng, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of our Company on
16 June 2023. Mr. Guo obtained a Master degree in Engineering Thermophysics from University of
Science and Technology of China in the PRC in 2005. Mr. Guo is currently a lecturer of Anhui Jianzhu
University and has over 15 years experience in engineering thermophysics, building physics and green
building.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors hereby present the annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Group’s principal place of business is in
Mainland China.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are engaged in the wholesale business of design, manufacture
and sales of children’s apparel and other apparel related products. In addition, the supply chain
management business of the Group has been emerged and the type of business scope included but
not limited to the trading of bulk commodities in Mainland China. Other than this, there were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year in Mainland China.
The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, aggregate sales to the Group’s largest and five largest
customers accounted for 25.1% (2023: 16.8%) and 52.0% (2023: 69.6%), respectively, of the Group’s
total turnover for the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, aggregate purchases from the Group’s largest and five
largest suppliers of raw materials and OEM products accounted for 29.32% (2023: 29.94%) and
68.68% (2023: 73.6%), respectively, of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

At no time during the year have the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder of the
Company (who or which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital (excluding treasury shares)) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement, Management’'s Discussion and Analysis, the ESG Report and Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the latest five financial years
is set out on page 160 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the state of the Company’s and the
Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in financial statements on pages 80 to 159 of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The distributable reserve of the Company as at 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB83,404,000
(2023: RMB70,743,000) as calculated based on the Company’s share premium, capital reserves and
accumulated profit under applicable provisions of the Companies Law in the Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders by reason of their
holding of the Company’s shares.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

No interim dividend was paid for the year of 2024 (2023: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
No charitable donations were made by the Group during the year of 2024 (2023: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 26 to the
financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations of the Group, some of which are
inherent to the business and some are from external sources. Major risks are summarised below.

(i) Fashion risk

Our success depends on our ability to define products trends and anticipate, gauge and react to
changing consumer demands in a timely manner. Failure to anticipate and respond timely to
changing consumer preferences could lead to lower sales and excess inventory levels. Within
each design concept it is important to have the right volumes and achieve the right balance in
the mix between fashion basics and the latest trends. To optimize fashion precision, we introduce
products in different batches throughout the season and will further shorten the product
development cycle in order to reduce the lead time between production and delivery to
customers. In addition, shopping patterns and the length of product seasons can vary in different
provinces in Mainland China. Accordingly, we adjust the delivery dates and product volumes for
the various markets and stores depending on market condition.

(ii) Intense competition

We compete not only with local Chinese brands, but also with other international fashion brands.
Areas of competition include product designs, production costs, marketing programs and
customer services. If we do not respond timely to our competitors, our costs may increase or the
consumer demand for our products may decline and our revenue and profits would decrease.

(iii) Macroeconomic environment

The risk exists that negative macroeconomic changes may result in negative changes in the
business environment. Fashion products may be considered as discretionary items for
customers. Slower consumer spending may result in reduced demand for our products, reduced
orders from our distributors, order cancellations, higher discounts, increased inventories, lower
revenue and margins. It is therefore important for the Group to be aware of any such changes of
economic environment and adjusts its store opening plan, buying volume and business plan
under different market conditions.

(iv) Supply chain

We do own or operate a manufacturing facility but depend mostly upon independent
manufacturers to produce all of our products and materials. Any disruption in the supply of
fabric, raw materials and products from suppliers may cause problems in our supply chain. We
have no long-term contracts with any of our suppliers and we may need to compete with other
companies for fabrics, raw materials and apparel products. Nevertheless, we have developed
long-standing relationships with a number of our vendors so as to minimize the impact from any
supply disruptions and ensure we can locate alternative suppliers of comparable quality at a
reasonable price all the time.
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Financial health of our distributors

We extend credit to our distributors based on assessments of their financial conditions,
repayment history and sales performance. To assist in the scheduling of production of our
products, our customers could place orders four to five months ahead of delivery under our sales
fair ordering system. These advance orders may be cancelled and the risk of cancellation may
increase when dealing with distributors struggling with financial difficulties. A slowing economy
could also adversely affect the financial health of our customers, which in turn could have an
adverse effect on our results of operation. In addition, product sales are dependent in part on an
appealing store environment to attract consumers, which requires continuing investments by
distributors. Distributors that experience financial difficulties may fail to make such investments
and result in lower sales and orders for our products.

Information system

We are dependent on information technology systems and networks, including the internet and
third-party hosted services across many of our operating activities, including sales and
distribution, ordering and purchases, sales and distribution, inventory management in all
distributors, e-commerce business, customer relationship management, digital marketing and
financial reporting. Any material disruption or slowdown of our IT systems, including a disruption
or slowdown caused by our failure to successfully upgrade our systems, system failures, viruses
or cyber attacks could cause a loss of data or operation interruption. Therefore, we invest
continuously in our IT and ERP system so as to keep up with the technology security and
availability and integrity of critical operation data.

Reputational risk

We are one of the leading brands and our success depends on our ability to maintain and
enhance our brand image and reputation. Maintaining and promoting our brands will depend on
our product design, marketing efforts and product quality. In addition, effect of our marketing
activities depends on our ability to adapt to the rapidly changing media environment, including
social media and online advertising campaigns. Should existing and potential customers lose
confidence in its brands, or in the industry in general, because of negative publicity, the Group’s
sales would decrease. To safeguard and manage the brand, it is important that the Group
continues to uphold its brand value, corporate image, product safety and maintain high business
ethics. In addition, it is also important that communication with our shareholders, customers and
other stakeholders is accurate, transparent and reliable.

(viii) Weather

Extreme weather conditions in the areas in which our distributors, suppliers and customers are
located could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Employees

Human resources are one of the greatest assets of the Group and the Group regards the
personal development of its employees as highly important. The Group wants to continue to be
an attractive employer for committed employees.

The Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career path and opportunities for
advancement and improvement of their skills. The Group provides pre-employment and
on-the-job training and development opportunities to our staff members. The training programs
cover areas such as managerial skills, sales and production, customer services, quality control,
sales fairs planning, workplace ethics and training of other areas relevant to the industry.

We seriously consider all valuable feedback from our employees for enhancing workplace
productivity and harmony. In addition, the Group offers competitive remuneration packages to
our employees. The Group has also adopted share option schemes to recognize and reward the
contribution of the employees to the growth and development of the Group.

Suppliers

We have developed long-standing relationships with a number of our vendors and take great
care to ensure that they share our commitment to quality and ethics. We carefully select our OEM
and require them to satisfy certain assessment criteria including track record, experience,
financial strength, reputation, ability to produce high-quality products and quality control
effectiveness. We also require our OEMs to comply with our anti-bribery policy.

Distributors

We sell our products to end customers through third-party distributors. We work with our
distributors like we are business partners and ensure we share the view for upholding our brand
value and customer services, specifically focusing on attracting and retaining customers in order
to drive sales growth. We require our distributors to comply with our policies. We also monitor the
financial condition and repayment history of our distributors.

Customers

We are committed to offer a broad and diverse range of inspiring, value-for money, good-quality
fashion with our various brands to our customers. We also stay connected with our customers.
We have ongoing communications with our customers through various channels like the
Company’s website, telephone, direct mail, marketing materials and social media.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

We are committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation that pays close attention to
conserving natural resources. We strive to minimize our environmental impact by saving electricity and
encouraging recycling of office supplies and other materials. We also require factories of our OEM to
operate in strict compliance with the relevant environmental regulations and rules and possess all
necessary permission and approval from the relevant Chinese regulators.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China while
the Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, we have complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors of the Company as at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws
of the Cayman Islands where the Company was incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities or treasury shares during the financial year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ding Peiji (Chairman)

Mr. Ding Peiyuan

Ms. Liu Min

Mr. Yu Jianjun (appointed on 28 June 2024)
Mr. Chan Yi Hsiung (resigned on 28 June 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Shing Kin

Mr. Chen Jun

Mr. Guo Zheng

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

69



66

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing on the Listing Date and will continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other which
notice shall not expire until after the fixed term. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing on
the date of appointments. Each of the Directors will be subject to retirement and re-election at annual
general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association. The details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors are revealed on note 8 to the financial statements.

Details of the Directors’ biographies have been set out on pages 58 to 59 of the annual report. In
accordance with article 84 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Ding Peiyuan, Mr. Yu Jianjun
and Mr. Chen Jun will retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The list of names of all directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the Company
during the year and up to the date of this report is available on the Company’s website
(http://www.redkids.com).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has or proposed to have an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or in existence during the year ended 31 December 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. To the best knowledge
of the Directors, save as disclosed in the note, none of these related party transactions constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions that need to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 15 January 2014.
As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the chief executive in the
Company’s shares, underlying shares and debentures of the associated corporations of the Company,
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which will have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which he is taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein or which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, will be as follows:

Interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures and associated
corporations:

Long positions in the Company

Approximate

Nature of Number of percentage of

Name of Directors interest Capacity Shares shareholding®
Mr. Ding Peijit® L® Interest in a controlled corporation 24,817,669 13.31%
Beneficial owner 373,200 0.20%
Beneficial owner 90,000® 0.05%
Mr. Ding Peiyuan® L® Interest in a controlled corporation 4,231,200 2.27%
Beneficial owner 960,000® 0.51%

Notes:

(1) Think Wise Holdings Investment Limited (“Think Wise”) is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Ding Peiji.
Accordingly, Mr. Ding Peiji is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Think Wise is interested pursuant
to the SFO.

(2) Rightful Style Limited (“Rightful Style”) is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Ding Peiyuan, an executive
Director. Accordingly, Mr. Ding Peiyuan is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Rightful Style is
interested pursuant to the SFO.

(3) The letter “L” denotes long position.

(4) Each of Mr. Ding Peiji and Mr. Ding Peiyuan, an executive Director, has been granted an option to subscribe for
90,000 and 960,000 Shares respectively under the Share Option Scheme granted on 2 November 2018.

(5) The calculation is based on the total number of 186,514,000 ordinary Shares of the Company in issue as at 31

December 2024, without taking into account any Shares to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme or options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and the chief executives of
the Company and their respective close associates had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 15 January 2014.
As at 31 December 2024, the persons or corporations other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company who had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

Approximate

Nature of Number of percentage of
Name interest Capacity Shares shareholding ®

Think Wise L® Beneficial owner 24,817,669 13.31%

Mr. Ding® L® Interest in a controlled 24,817,669 13.31%
corporation

Beneficial owner 378,200 0.20%

Beneficial owner 90,000@ 0.05%

Rightful Style® L® Beneficial owner 4,231,200 2.27%

Mr. Ding Peiyuan® L® Interest in a controlled 4,231,200 2.27%
corporation

Beneficial owner 960,000® 0.51%

Goldrun Limited® L® Beneficial owner 16,480,000 8.84%

Mr. Chen Hsin Fu® L® Interest in a controlled 16,480,000 8.84%

corporation
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(1) Think Wise is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Ding Peiji. Accordingly, Mr. Ding is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares in which Think Wise is interested pursuant to the SFO.

(2) Rightful Style is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Ding Peiyuan, an executive Director. Accordingly, Mr. Ding
Peiyuan is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Rightful Style is interested pursuant to the SFO.

(3) The letter “L” denotes long position.

(4) Each of Mr. Ding Peiji and Mr. Ding Peiyuan, an executive Director, has been granted an option to subscribe for
90,000 and 960,000 Shares respectively under the Share Option Scheme granted on 2 November 2018.

(5) Based on the notices of disclosures of interests of Goldrun Limited and Mr. Chen Hsin Fu each filed with the Stock
Exchange dated 27 April 2022, these interests are held by Goldrun Limited, which is wholly owned by Mr. Chen
Hsin Fu.

(6) The calculation is based on the total number of 186,514,000 ordinary Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024
without taking into account of any Shares to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme or options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company is not aware of any other person or
corporation having an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of Part XV
of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements, no contract of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

As permitted by the articles of association of the Company, a Director or a former Director of the
Company may be indemnified out of the Company’s assets against any liability incurred by the Director
to a person other than the Company or an associated company of the Company that attaches to such
Director in his or her capacity as a Director of the Company, to the extent permitted by law.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability insurance throughout
the year, which provides appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its Directors and
officers.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements, there had been no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling Shareholders of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors of the Company had any interests in any business which competes or are likely
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
the year. Each of Mr. Ding Peiji and Think Wise (the controlling Shareholders (within the meaning of the
Listing Rules) of the Company) has confirmed to the Company that he/it has complied with the non-
compete undertaking given by them to the Company on 16 December 2013. The independent non-
executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the status of compliance and enforcement of the
non-compete undertaking and confirmed that all the undertakings thereunder have been complied with
during the year.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 27 December 2013 for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the Group.

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 27 December 2013 for the purpose of rewarding
certain eligible persons for their past contributions and attracting and retaining, or otherwise
maintaining on-going relationships with, such eligible persons who are significant to and/or whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group. Subject to
the earlier termination of the Share Option Scheme in accordance with the rules thereof, the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date.
Therefore, the Share Option Scheme was expired in 2023. Following the expiry of the scheme on
27 December 2023, no further share option can be granted, but the provisions of the scheme will
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any share
options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the
scheme.

Eligible participants of the Scheme include any proposed, full-time or part-time employees, executives
or officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; any directors or proposed director (including
non-executive director and independent non-executive directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; any direct or indirect Shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and any
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue as at the Listing Date, i.e. 8,000,000 shares of the Company (adjusted after share
consolidation in the year of 2021). Subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the approval
of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing
Rules from time to time, the Board may:

(i renew this limit at any time to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of the approval by the
Shareholders in general meeting; and/or

(i) grant options beyond the 10% limit to eligible participants specifically identified by the Board.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon the exercise of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each grantee within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to:
(i) the issue of a circular by the Company; and (ii) the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting
and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive Directors
of the Company. In addition, where any grant of options or awards to an independent non-executive
director or a substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates, would
result in the shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and awards granted (excluding
any options and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
relevant class of shares in issue, such further grant of options or awards must be approved by
shareholders of the Company in general meeting in the manner set out in Rule 17.04(4) of the Listing
Rules.

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the Directors, which period may
commence on the date of the offer of the share options, and ends on a date which is not later than ten
years from the date of grant of the share options subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised. Participants
of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay the Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant on
or before 28 days after the offer date.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange’s daily
qguotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of the shares on the date of the offer for the grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

71



72

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Details of movement in the share options as at 31 December 2024 which have been granted under the

Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Granted Exercised

Cancelled

Outstanding during the during the during the

asat1 year ended year ended y
January 31 December 31 December 31
Name 2024 2024 2024

Directors
Mr. Ding Peil 90,000 - -

Mr. Ding Peiyuan 960,000 - -

Ms. Ding Lizhen (resigned on 900,000 - -
4 August 2023)

Mr. Hung Cho Sing (resigned on 90,000 - -
16 June 2023)

Mr. Chan Wai Wong (resigned 90,000 - -
on 31 October 2022)

Mr. Wu Shiming (resigned 90,000 - -
on 28 June 2022)

gar ended
December
2024

Qutstanding

during the

year ended

31 December

2024

90,000

960,000

900,000

90,000

90,000

90,000

Exercise
Price

Date of

grant

2 November 2018

2 November 2018

2 November 2018

2 November 2018

2 November 2018

2 November 2018

Exercisable
period

2 November
2019

-1 November

2028
2 November
2019

-1 November

2028
2 November
2019

-1 November

2028
2 November
2019

-1 November

2028
2 November
2019

-1 November

2028
2 November
2019

-1 November

2028

Employess 2,580,000 - -

Others® 3,200,000 - -

2,580,000

3,200,000

2 November 2018

2 November 2018

2 November
2019

-1 November

2028
2 November
2019

-1 November

2028

Total 8,000,000 - -

8,000,000

Comprise of customers and consultants of the Company.

As at the date of this report, no share option granted under the Share Option Scheme were lapsed

during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Equity-settled Share Based Payments” above, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director of the Company or their respective spouses or minor children, or were such
rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of the Company or any other body
corporate.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes organized by the PRC
municipal and provincial government authorities for the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC, and
operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of these
retirement plans are set out in note 2 to the financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that aims to enhance transparency of the Company and
facilitate Shareholders and investors to make informed investment decisions in relation to the Company
(the “Dividend Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall take into account, inter alia, the following factors in
deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount:

(i) the Group’s financial results;

(i) the financial condition of the Group;

(iii)  future cash requirements and availability for business operations, business strategies and future
development needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(v) the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of the
Group;

(vi) the general market conditions; and

(vii) any other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the applicable
laws and the relevant provisions of articles of association of the Company.

Any declaration and/or payment of future dividends under the Dividend Policy are/is subject to the

Board’s determination and would be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a
whole. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events after the reporting period of the Group.
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AUDITORS

A resolution will be proposed at the 2025 AGM to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as
auditors of the Company.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors, as well as the management and all our
employees for the contribution they have made towards the Group’s continued progress, and to thank
all our shareholders, customers and business partners for their support.

On behalf of the Board

Ding Peiji
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

31/F Gloucester Tower

< _ . The Landmark

HLB ’)f%' & E KA RAF 11 Pedder Street
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED Central

Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Miko International Holdings Limited (the
“Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 159,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Allowance for expected credit loss recognised on trade receivables
Refer to notes 2, 3 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross
trade receivables of approximately RMB105,819,000
with the allowance for expected credit loss of
approximately RMB17,304,000.

Management performed periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the trade receivables and the
sufficiency of allowance for expected credit loss
based on information including credit profile of
different customers, ageing of the trade
receivables, historical settlement records,
subsequent settlement status, expected timing and
amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and
on-going trading relationships with the relevant
customers. Management also considered forward
looking information that may impact the customers’
ability to repay the outstanding balances in order to
estimate the expected credit losses for the
impairment assessment.

We focused on this area due to the use of
significant management judgements and estimates.

Our procedures in relation to management’s estimated allowance for
expected credit loss of trade receivable as at 31 December 2024
included:

e (Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of the trade
receivables as at 31 December 2024 to the underlying financial
records and post year-end settlements to bank receipts;

e |nquiring of management for the status of each of the material
trade receivables past due as at year end and corroborating
explanations from management with supporting evidence, such
as performing public search of credit profile of selected
customers, understanding on-going business relationship with the
customers based on trade records, checking historical and
subsequent settlement records of and other correspondence with
the customers; and

e Assessing the appropriateness of the expected credit loss
provisioning methodology, examining the key data inputs on a
sample basis to assess their accuracy and completeness, and
challenging the assumptions, including both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.

We found that the management judgement and estimates used to
assess the recoverability of the trade receivables and determine the
impairment provision to be supportable by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
Other Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Fong Ka Yiu.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Ka Yiu
Practising Certificate Number: PO8080

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT
OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue 4 389,137 150,614
Cost of sales (370,017) (125,080)
Gross profit 19,120 25,534
Other revenue 5 2,712 3,210
Written down on inventories 6(c) (2,577) (3,177)
Reversal of allowance/(allowance for) expected credit loss
on trade and other receivables, net 27(a) 269 (5,609)
Selling and distribution expenses (25,424) (18,287)
Administrative and other operating expenses (21,361) (15,552)
Gain on deregistration of an associate 6(c) - 3,194
Loss from operations (27,261) (10,687)
Finance costs 6(a) (615) (1,984)
Loss before taxation 6 (27,876) (12,671)
Income tax expenses 7(a) (541) (45)

Loss for the year attributable to shareholders
of the Company (28,417) (12,716)
Other comprehensive income for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial statements
of overseas subsidiaries (972) (82)

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company (29,389) (12,798)

Loss per share (RMB cents)
- Basic and diluted 10 (16.23) (8.45)

The notes are an integral part of those consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 44,559 41,273
Intangible assets 12 - -
Right-of-use assets 13 2,251 2,149
Deposits paid for property, plant and equipment 18 - 1,168
46,810 44,590
Current assets
Inventories 16 17,491 31,067
Trade receivables 17 88,515 93,866
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 18 13,587 9,309
Cash and cash equivalents 19 39,655 39,721
159,248 173,963
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 55,089 56,417
Lease liabilities 23 102 -
Bank loans 20 17,000 17,000
72,191 73,417
Net current assets 87,057 100,546
Total assets less current liabilities 133,867 145,136

The notes are an integral part of those consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 23 91 -
Deferred tax liabilities 14(a) 1,300 1,300
1,391 1,300
Net assets 132,476 143,836
Equity
Share capital 26(b) 15,654 13,026
Reserves 116,822 130,810
Total equity 132,476 143,836
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025:
Ding Peiji Ding Peiyuan
Director Director

The notes are an integral part of those consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)

Share-based Convertible
Share Share payment Capital bond  Exchange  Statutory Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve loss Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
26(b) 26(c)(i) 26(c)(iv) 26(c)(v) 26(c)(vi) 26(c)iii) 26(c)(ii)
Balance at 1 January 2023 11,516 288,164 4,571 145,549 1,754 13,425 58,134 (382,243) 140,870
Change in equity for the year 2023:
Loss for the year - - - - - - - (12,716) (12,716)
Other comprehensive oss - - - - = (82) = (82)
Total comprehensive loss - - - - - (82) - (12,716) (12,798)
Conversion of convertible bonds 1,510 16,008 - - (1,754) - - - 15,764
Balance at 31 December 2023 13,026 304,172 4571 145,549 - 13,343 58,134 (394,959) 143,836
Change in equity for the year 2024:
Loss for the year - - - - - - - (28,417) (28,417)
Other comprehensive loss - - - - - (972) - - (972)
Total comprehensive loss - - - - - (972) - (28,417) (29,389)
Issue of placing shares, net of expenses
(note 26(b)(i)) 2,628 15,401 - - - - - - 18,029
Balance at 31 December 2024 15,654 319,573 4,57 145,549 - 12,371 58,134 (423,376) 132,476

The notes are an integral part of those consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Operating activities
Loss before taxation (27,876) (12,671)
Adjustment for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6(c) 5,954 6,713
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6(c) 10 76
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 6(c) 107 88
Finance costs 6(a) 615 1,984
Interest income 5 (1,433) (1,544)
Written down on inventories 6(c) 2,577 3,177
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance for expected credit loss
on trade and other receivables, net 27(a) (269) 5,609
Gain on deregistration of an associate 6(c) - (3,194)
Operating cash flow before movements in working
capital (20,315) 238
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 10,999 (11,355)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 5,604 (14,088)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (3,094) (4,668)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (28,268) 27,059
Cash used in operations (35,074) (2,814)
Income tax (541) (45)
Net cash used in operating activities (35,615) (2,859)
Investing activities
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment (11,853) (5,825)
Interest received 5 1,433 1,544
Net cash used in investing activities (10,420) (4,281)
Financing activities
Proceeds from bank loans 17,000 17,000
Repayment of bank loans (17,000) (17,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities (19) -
Net proceeds from issue of new placing shares 18,029 =
Proceeds from amount due to a director 37,032 11,345
Repayment of amount due to a director (7,489) -
Interest paid (612) (1,184)
Net cash generated from financing activities 46,941 10,161
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 906 3,021
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 39,721 36,739
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (972) (39)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 19(a) 39,655 39,721

The notes are an integral part of those consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered
office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is located
at Room 1601, Ho King Commercial Centre, 2-16 Fa Yuen Street, Mong Kok, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company consider the immediate and ultimate
controlling parties to be Think Wise Holdings Investment Limited and Mr. Ding Peiji respectively.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) were principally
engaged in the wholesale business of design, manufacture and sales of children’s apparel and
other apparel related products. In addition, the supply chain management business of the Group
has been emerged and the type of business scope included but not limited to the trading of bulk
commodities in Mainland China. Other than this, there were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Application of new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to |IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendments to |IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Application of new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments®

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards

Standards - Volume 118
Amendments to |AS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements*

Effective for annual period beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

EN AR R

Except as described below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all the
new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new IFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in IAS 1, introduces new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-defined
performance measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some IAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor amendments to |IAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows and |IAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

ZSJA-{'EMEdI\)ITS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
ontinue
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
IFRS Accounting Standards, which collective term includes all applicable individual International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“lASs”) and Interpretations
issued by IASB. The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset
or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$"). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) as the directors of the Company considered that
the principal activities of the Group is design, manufacture and sales of children apparel
products are mainly conducted in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and the functional
currency of subsidiaries with operation in the PRC are denominated in RMB, the directors of the
Company consider that it would result in a more appropriate presentation of the Group’s
transactions in the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
processes are considered substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, including an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to
perform the related processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant cost,
effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum
of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit
or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and
a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”)
except for transactions and events within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or IFRIC-Int 21 Levies, in which the Group applies IAS 37 or IFRIC-Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and
IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the
acquire or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS
2 at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposals groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that Standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of
the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income and
measured under IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting
period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively
during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress
as described in below). Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
impairment losses, if any.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management, including costs of testing whether
the related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

- Buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no more than
20 years after the date of competition.

- Machinery 10 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years
- Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired separately (Continued)
Computer software is amortised from the date they are available for use for 5-10 years.

Distribution channels recognised as an intangible asset on the basis of the remaining contractual
term of the related contract regardless of whether market participants would consider potential
contractual renewals in determining when measuring its fair value. It is amortised from the
remaining contractual terms of the right required of distribution channels and shall not include
renewal periods.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill
are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite
useful are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis an intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Interest in associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associate
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of
the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Interest in associate (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which
the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investments is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may
be impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the associate is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits or losses resulting from the transactions

with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associates that are not related to the Group.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

93



94

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Changes in the Groups interests in an associate

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interest.

2.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

Impairment of assets other than goodwill

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- right-of-use assets;
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit which
the asset belongs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment of assets other than goodwill (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the
relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are
determined on a weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads
(based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist
of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries,
annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans (Continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another IFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

For long service payment (“LSP”) obligation, the Group accounts for the employer
mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) contributions expected to be offset as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of IAS 19.93(a) and it is
measure on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit is determined after
deducting the negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived from the
Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments
Share options granted to employees

The fair value of share options granted to eligible persons is recognised as an expense
with a corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at the grant date using the binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options are granted. Where the eligible persons have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to profit or loss for the year of the review with a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised
as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve). The equity amount is
recognised in the share-based payment reserve until either the option is exercised (when it
is transferred to the share premium account) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to accumulative losses).

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

97



98

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
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(Continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
or loss before tax because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the
Group applies IAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to
the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers whether it is
probable that the relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed
to be use by individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and
deferred taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is
not probable that the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect
of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected value.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal and constructive) as
result of a part event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risk and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flow
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events but is not recognised
because it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the part of the obligation that is
expected to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits has become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future
economic benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a
provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in which
the change in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer
for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for an
presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligation (including allocation of transaction
price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each performance
obligation is determined at contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group would
sell a promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not
directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that the
transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.

Design, manufacture and sales of children apparel products

Revenue from sales of children apparel products is recognised at a point in time when the goods
are transferred to customers upon delivery.

Sales of bulk commodity products

Revenue from sales of bulk commodity products is recognised at a point in time when control of
the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customers and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the product and
collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligation (including allocation of transaction
price) (Continued)

Government Grants (Continued)

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as a deduction from
the carrying amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivables as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under other revenue.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. When a fair
value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange difference on monetary items receivable or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interest in
an associate.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net assets in Hong Kong dollars
to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Renminbi) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in exchange reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the exchange reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualify assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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Lease

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS
16 at inception of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless such
allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component and are accounted for by applying
other applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do no contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for a lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use-assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentive
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the

underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.
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Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use-assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from the commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term,
upon exercising purchase options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at
the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value
of lease payments, the Group use the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencements
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:
o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any incentive receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.

2.

The Group remeasure lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent
review/excepted payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying asset; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the
stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risk and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
from lessees.

2.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the original terms and
conditions are accounted for as lease modifications, including lease incentive provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

(i)

Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the
effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases the lessee from its obligation
to make specifically identified lease payment, of which some of these lease payments are
contractually due but not paid and some of them are not yet contractually due, the Group
accounts for the portions which have been recognised as operating lease receivables (i.e.
the lease payments which are contractually due but not paid) by applying the ECL and
derecognition requirements under IFRS 9 and applies lease modification requirements for
the forgiven lease payments that the Group has not recognised (i.e. the lease payments
which are not yet contractually due) as at the effective date of modification.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Related parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.
An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial statements provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as other revenue.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be
measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) on financial
assets (including trade receivables, deposit paid, other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents) which are subject to impairment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative

information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’'s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or

technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is

unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would

not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties; or

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 1 year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flow used for determining the ECL is consistent with cash flow used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with IFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognised an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and
recognises an associated liability for amount it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation for the Group to deliver cash or
other financial assets or the Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution and
redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation
of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank loans, convertible bonds, trade payables and other payables
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

117



118

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Modification of financial liabilities

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified, the Group assess whether the
revised terms result in a substantial modification from original terms taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not
conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities” original effective interest
rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Convertible bonds

The component parts of the convertible bonds are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated by measuring the fair
value of similar liability that does no have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition,
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion option
exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note,
the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds are allocated to the liability
and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the

liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortized over
the period of the convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements and other uncertainties affecting
application of those policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in condition and
assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing the financial statements. The principal
accounting policies are set forth in Note 2. The Group believes the following critical accounting
policies involve the most significant judgements and estimates used in the preparation of the
financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

3.

(a)

(b)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation/amortisation and impairment, if any. In determining whether an
asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly
in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the recoverable amount.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are approximately RMB44,559,000 and RMB2,251,000 (2023:
approximately RMB41,273,000 and RMB2,149,000) respectively. The details of impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are set out in Notes
11 and 13.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

When ECL assessment is performed using a provision matrix. Details on how ECL were
measured should be consistent to the internal credit risk management of the Group are
disclosed in Note 27.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables
which are not assessed individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based
on ageing of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into consideration the Group’s
historical default rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The loss allowances for financial assets at amortised cost are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s
past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL
and the Group’s financial assets at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 27(a).
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports that are used to make
strategic decisions consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior management for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following two reportable segments.

The Group’s operations and reportable segments are as follows:

(i) Wholesales business — design, manufacture and sales of children’s apparel and other
apparel products; and

(ify  Supply chain management business — trading of bulk commodity products.

Segment revenue and results:
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segments.

Supply chain
Wholesales business management business Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000

Reportable segment revenue
- Revenue from external

customer 260,336 150,614 128,801 - 389,137 150,614
Segment results (24,534)  (13,353) (646) - (25,180)  (13,353)
Other revenue 2,712 3,210
Central administration costs (4,793) (3,738)
Gain on deregistration of

an associate - 3,194
Finance costs (615) (1,984)
Loss before taxation (27,876)  (12,671)

All of the segment revenue reported above are generated from external customers. Revenue from
contracts with customers are recognised at a point in time.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting
policies to the consolidated financial statements. Segment results represent the loss recorded by
each segment without allocation of other revenue, gain on derecognition of an associate, finance
costs and central administrative costs. This is the measure reported to the chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

Segment assets and liabilities:

Supply chain
Wholesales business management business Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000

Segment assets 150,260 201,598 51,589 - 201,849 201,598
Unallocated assets 4,209 16,955
Total assets 206,058 218,553
Segment liabilities 29,879 60,864 118 - 29,997 60,864
Unallocated liabilities 43,585 13,853
Total liabilities 73,582 74,717

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between
segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than certain other prepayments and
receivables and certain cash and cash equivalents; and

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred tax liabilities and
other payables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information:

Supply chain
Wholesales business management business Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Capital expenditure* 11,410 5,825 443 - 11,853 5,825
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 5,896 6,713 58 - 5,954 6,713
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 107 88 - = 107 88
Written down on inventories 2,577 3,177 - - 2,577 3,177
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance
for expected credit loss on trade
and other receivables, net (310) 5,609 41 - (269) 5,609

*

Geographical information:

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

All the Group’s revenue from external customers and majority of the Group’s non-current assets

are based in Mainland China.

Information about major customers:

Revenue from customers which individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer A from wholesales business N/A* 16,624
Customer B from wholesales business N/A* 25,246
Customer C from wholesales business N/A* 19,607
Customer D from wholesales business N/A* 16,369
Customer E from supply chain management business 97,763 N/A*

*

The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10% of the Group’s revenue for the respective year
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Sales of children’s and other apparel products 260,336 150,614
Sales of bulk commodity products 128,801 -
389,137 150,614
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 389,137 150,614

Transaction allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with

customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 to its revenue such
that the Group does not disclose information about revenue that the Group will be entitled to
when it satisfies the remaining obligations under the contracts as all contract works have an

original expected duration of one year or less.

OTHER REVENUE

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest income 1,433 1,544
Rental income 1,161 1,140
Others 118 526
2,712 3,210
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
(a) Finance costs:
Interest on bank loans 612 583
Interest on lease liabilities 3 =
Imputed interest on convertible bonds - 1,401
615 1,984
(b) Staff costs:
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 3,145 2,693
Salaries, wages and other benefits 23,926 23,792
27,071 26,485
(c) Other items:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 5,954 6,713
Amortisation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) 107 88
Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit services 829 813
Written down on inventories 2,577 3,177
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance for expected credit loss,
net
— trade receivables (253) 5,597
— other receivables (16) 12
Design and development expenses 927 1,792
Cost of inventories sold* 370,017 125,080
Gain on deregistration of an associate - (8,194)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 76
o Cost of inventories for the year ended 31 December 2024 includes approximately RMB12,873,000

(20283: approximately RMB11,083,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation, which amount is also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately in Notes 6(b) and (c) above for each

of these types of expenses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

7. TAXATION

(a) Income tax expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax

— PRC corporate income tax 541 45
Deferred tax

— Origination of temporary differences (Note 14(a)) - -

541 45

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax

rates:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Loss before taxation (27,876) (12,671)
Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at the
standard tax rates applicable to the respective tax
jurisdictions (6,561) (2,824)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (291) (392)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 2,243 1,297
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 5,150 1,964
Tax expense 541 45
Notes:
(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the

Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands or BVI.
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7.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

TAXATION (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax
rates: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii) No provision was made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Group did not earn any assessable profit
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for both years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

(iii) The applicable income tax rate for all of the Group’s subsidiaries in PRC is 25%.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of directors’ remuneration are as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2024

Contributions

Basic salaries, to defined Equity-settled
allowances contributions share-hased
and other retirement  Discretionary payments

Fees benefits plans bonuses Sub-total (Note a) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors

Mr. Ding Peiji (Chairman) - 577 1 - 588 - 588
Mr. Ding Peiyuan - 619 11 - 630 - 630
Ms. Liu Min (note b) - 127 - - 127 - 127
Mr. Chan Yi Hsiung (note c) - - - - - - -
Mr. Yu Jianjun (note b) - 55 - - 55 - 55
Sub-total - 1,378 22 - 1,400 - 1,400

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Ng Shing Kin 11 - - - 1 - 111
Mr. Chen Jun 11 - - - 11 - 111
Mr. Guo Zheng (note ¢) 1 - - - 11 - 111
Subtotel N R R SR R Y
Total 333 1,378 22 - 1,733 - 1,733
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023

Contributions

Basic salaries, to defined Equity-settled
allowances  contributions share-based
and other retirement  Discretionary payments

Fees benefits plans bonuses Sub-total (Note a) Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Executive directors

Mr. Ding Peiji (Chairman) - 628 10 - 638 - 638
Mr. Ding Peiyuan - 532 10 - 542 - 542
Ms. Ding Lizhen (note c) - 368 7 - 375 - 375
Mr. Chan Yi Hsiung (note c) - 414 - - 414 - 414
Ms. Liu Min (note b) - 54 - - 54 - 54
Sub-total - 1,996 27 - 2,023 - 2,023

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Hung Cho Sing (note d) 54 - - - 54 - 54
Mr. Ng Shing Kin 108 - - - 108 - 108
Mr. Chen Jun 108 - - - 108 - 108
Mr. Guo Zheng (note €) 59 - - - 59 - 59
Sub-total 329 - - - 329 - 329
Total 329 1,996 21 - 2,352 - 2,352
Notes:

(a) These represent the estimated value of equity-settled-share-based payments granted to the directors under
the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these share options is measured according to the
Group’s accounting policies for share-based payment transactions as set out in Note 2 and, in accordance
with that policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity
instruments are forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of options granted, are
disclosed under the paragraph “Share option scheme” in the directors’ report and Note 25.

(b) Mr. Yu Jianjun and Ms. Liu Min were appointed as executive directors on 28 June 2024 and 4 August 2023
respectively.

(c) Mr. Chan Yi Hsiung and Ms. Ding Lizhen were resigned as executive director on 28 June 2024 and 4
August 2023 respectively.

(d) Mr. Hung Cho Sing was resigned as independent non-executive directors on 16 June 2023.

(e) Mr. Guo Zheng was appointed as independent non-executive directors on 16 June 2023.

During the year, no amount was paid or payable by the Group to the directors or any of the five
highest paid individuals set out in Note 9 as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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9.

10.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INDIVIDUAL WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023: three) are directors whose
remuneration is disclosed in Note 8 above. The emoluments in respect of the remaining three
individuals (2023: two) who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other emoluments 1,763 625
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 32 25
1,795 650

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the Company whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

2024 2023

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 2

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management (excluding the Directors as
disclosed in Note 8) are within the following bands:

2024 2023

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 2

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for the year of approximately
RMB28,417,000 (2023: loss of approximately RMB12,716,000) and the weighted average of
175,055,000 ordinary shares (2023: 150,545,000 ordinary shares).

(b) Diluted loss per share

The effect of the Company’s share options was anti-dilutive for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, and therefore, diluted loss per share is the same as the basic
loss per share.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
Motor  Fixtures and Construction-
Buildings Machinery Vehicles Equipment  in-progress Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Cost:
At 1 January 2023 100,380 17,408 2,664 7,533 - 127,985
Additions - 900 - - 4,925 5,825
Disposal (177) (95) - - - (272)
Transfer 534 - - - (534) -
At 31 December 2023 and
e A e T bl Rl
Additions - 7,655 637 144 3,417 11,853
Disposal - (84) - - (2,603) (2,687)
Transfer - 4,867 - 338 (5,205) -
M3 December202d 10073 st 3 805 - 1w
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2023 67,699 12,191 2,243 3,615 - 85,748
Charge for the year 3,770 1,720 189 1,034 - 6,713
Disposal (110) (86) - - - (196)
At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024 71,359 13,825 2,432 4,649 - 92,265
Charge for the year 2,994 2,153 189 618 - 5,954
Disposal - (74) - - - (74)
At 31 December 2024 74,353 15,904 2,621 5,267 - 98,145
Net book value:
At 31 December 2024 26,384 14,747 680 2,748 - 44,559
At 31 December 2023 29,378 4,388 232 2,884 4,391 41,273

(a)  All property, plant and equipment owned by the Group are located in the PRC.

(b)  Buildings with net book value of approximately RMB7,466,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: approximately RMB8,183,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank
loans (Note 20).

With the operating loss before finance costs resulted from the operations for years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024, the management of the Group concluded that there was indication for
impairment on the CGU.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment have been determined based on fair
value less cost to sell approach which performed by independent professional valuers. Based on
the assessment, the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is higher than the
carrying value of property, plant and equipment, the management of the Group determines that
there is no impairment on property, plant and equipment.
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12.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer Distribution

software channels Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cost:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 28,442 69,300 97,742
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 28,442 69,300 97,742

Net book change:
At 31 December 2024 - = -

At 31 December 2023 - _ _

The amortisation for the year is included in selling and distribution expenses and administrative
and other operating expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation:

Computer software 5-10 years
Distribution channels 2-4Y4 years

Distribution channels

Red Kids (China) Limited (“Red Kids (China)”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and independent third parties entered into distributor contracts. According to the
distributor contracts, Red Kids (China) granted the independent third parties the exclusive
distributorship of the “Redkids” brand in the authorised geographic area (the “Distributors”).
The Distributors have the rights to open new retail stores in the authorised areas to sell
“Redkids” products manufactured by the Red Kids (China).

MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

131



132

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leasehold Office
lands premises Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 31 December 2024
Carrying amount 2,061 190 2,251
At 31 December 2023
Carrying amount 2,149 - 2,149
For the year ended 31 December 2024
Amortisation charge (88) (19) (107)
Exchange alignment - 3 3
For the year ended 31 December 2023
Amortisation charge (88) - (88)
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Expense relating to short-term leases 40 3
Total cash outflow for leases 59 3
Addition to right-of-use assets 206 -

Right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of approximately RMB2,061,000 (2023: approximately
RMB2,149,000) as at 31 December 2024 were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank loans
(Note 20). Leasehold lands represent the costs of land use rights in respect of certain leasehold
lands located in PRC, which are held under a medium lease form.

In 2024, the Group leases office for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of 2 years, but may have extension and termination options as described below. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The recoverable amount of right-of use assets have been determined based on fair less cost to
sell approach which performed by independent professional valuers. Based on the assessment,
the recoverable amount of right-of-use assets is higher than the carrying value of right-of-use
assets, the management of the Group determines that there is no impairment on right-of-use
assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION

(a)

(b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Dividend
withholding
tax Total
RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024 (1,300) (1,300)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of approximately RMB255,294,000
(2023: approximately RMB424,523,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits
against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entity. Cumulative tax losses related to the Group’s PRC subsidiaries of approximately
RMB252,610,000 (2023: approximately RMB421,839,000) will expire within 5 years under
current tax legislation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE/AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE

The movement of investment in an associate was as follows:

At 1 January
Deregistration of an associate

2023
RMB’000

42,799
(42,799)

At 31 December

Deregistration of an associate

As at 3 April 2024, EFIkFE¥RIEBR AR completed the process of the de-registration. It has

resulted in the recognition of a gain in profit or loss, calculated as follows.

The calculation of gain on deregistration of an associate:

RMB’000

Proceeds from deregistration of an associate 45,993

Less: carrying amount of the 45% investment on the date of deregistration (42,799)

Gain on deregistration of an associate 3,194

The de-registration was completed on 3 April 2023.
16. INVENTORIES

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 800 1,648

Work in progress 88 99

Finished goods 16,603 29,320

17,491 31,067
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18.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 105,819 111,423
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss (17,304) (17,557)
88,515 983,866

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers (net of allowance for
expected credit loss) amounted to RMB85,375,000.

Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers. Credit evaluations are performed
by the senior management on all customers with credit sales. In general, the credit period
granted to customers is 30 to 120 days (2023: 30 to 120 days).

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group
based on invoice date and net of allowance for expected credit losses, is as below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 90 days 53,428 55,065
91-120 days 6,830 13,571
121-180 days 19,748 18,203
181-365 days 8,509 7,027
88,515 93,866

Details of assessment for expected credit losses of trade receivables for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 27(a).

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’'000

Other receivables 227 969
Deposits paid 34 1,168
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss (1) (17)
260 2,120

Prepayments to suppliers 13,327 8,357
13,587 10,477

Less: Deposits paid classified as non-current assets - (1,168)
13,587 9,309

Details of assessment for expected credit losses of other receivable for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note 27(a).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Cash at bank and on hand 39,655 39,721

At 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents amount of approximately
RMB36,693,000 (2023: approximately RMB23,323,000) were placed with banks in PRC.
Remittance of funds out of PRC is subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flow were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flow as cash flows from financing activities.

Amounts
Convertible due to Lease
Bank loans bonds a director liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 20) (Note 22) (Note 21) (Note 23)

At 1 January 2023 17,000 14,964 - - 31,964
Change from financing

cash flow, net (583) (601) 11,345 - 10,161
Other:
Interest charged, net 583 1,401 - - 1,984
Conversion of convertible

bonds - (15,764) - - (15,764)

At 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024 17,000 - 11,345 - 28,345

Change from financing

cash flow, net (612) - 29,543 (19) 28,912
Other:
Addition - - - 206 206
Interest charged, net 612 - - 3 615
Exchange alignment - - - 8 3
At 31 December 2024 17,000 - 40,888 193 58,081
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20.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BANK LOANS

As of the end of the reporting period, the bank loans of the Group were repayable within one
year or on demand as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bank loans
— secured and fixed rate 17,000 17,000
Assets of the Group pledged to secure the bank loans comprise:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Buildings (Note 11) 7,466 8,183
Right-of-use assets (Note 13) 2,061 2,149
9,527 10,332

Bank loans of approximately RMB17,000,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
RMB17,000,000) are secured by right-of-use assets and buildings of net book value of
approximately RMB2,061,000 (2023: RMB2,149,000) and RMB7,466,000 (2023: RMB8,183,000)
respectively and guaranteed by a director of the Company and an independent third party.

The effective interest rates per annum at the respective reporting dates, are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fixed-rate bank loans 3.70% 3.70%

At the end of the reporting period, bank loans were denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
RMB 17,000 17,000

In respect of bank borrowings with carrying amount of approximately RMB17,000,000 (2023:
RMB17,000,000) as at 31 December 2024, the Group is required to comply with respective
financial covenants in relation to the Group’s consolidated tangible net worth shall not be less
than certain threshold throughout the continuance of the relevant borrowings and/or as long as
the borrowings are outstanding. The Group has complied with these covenants throughout the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables (note a) 2,694 32,992
Other payables and accruals 11,507 12,080
Amount due to a director (note b) 40,888 11,345
55,089 56,417

Notes:
(a) In general, the credit period granted by suppliers is 30 days (2023: 30 days).

Set out below is an ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting period based on
relevant invoice dates:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Within 3 months 2,694 32,992

(b) The amount due to a director, Mr. Ding Peiji, is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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22.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 23 June 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
RMB34,393,044 (equivalent to HK$39,552,000) which borne an interest rate of 4% per annum
(“Convertible Bonds 2017") as a part of consideration for acquisition of distribution channel.
The Convertible Bonds 2017 entitled the holder to convert them into ordinary shares at a
conversion price of HK$0.24 per ordinary share, at any time.

On 23 June 2019, the Company renewed Convertible Bonds 2017 with an aggregate principal
amount of RMB15,764,000 (equivalent to HK$18,128,000) which borne an interest rate of 8% per
annum (“Convertible Bonds 2019”). The Convertible Bonds 2019 entitled the holder to convert
them into ordinary shares at a conversion price of HK$1.10 per ordinary share, at any time from
23 June 2019 to 283 June 2021.

The Convertible Bonds 2019 contain two components: liability and equity components. The equity
element is presented in equity heading “Convertible bonds reserve”. The effective interest rate of

the liability component on the initial recognition was 19.26% per annum.

The Convertible Bonds 2019 information are presented as follows:

Principal amount: RMB15,764,000

(Equivalent to HK$18,128,000)
Interest: 8% p.a. payable semi-annually
Issue date: 23 June 2019
Maturity date: 23 June 2021
Conversion price per share: HK$1.10 (Restated)
Discount rate: 20.49%

On 1 February 2021, the Company renewed the Convertible Bonds 2019 with an aggregate
principal amount of approximately RMB15,764,000 (equivalent to HK$18,128,000) which borne
an interest rate of 8% per annum (“Convertible Bonds 2021”). The Convertible Bonds 2021
entitled the holder to convert them into ordinary shares at a conversion price of HK$1.10 per
ordinary share, at any time 1 February 2021 to 23 June 2023. At the date of modification, the
carrying amounts of the liability components and the equity components of the Convertible
Bonds 2019 immediately before the modification were approximately RMB15,226,000 and
RMB4,141,000, respectively. According to a valuation report issued by an independent
professional valuer not connected with the Group, the fair value of the new liability component
and the equity component of the Convertible Bonds 2019 immediately the modification are
approximately RMB12,466,000 and RMB1,754,000 as at the date of valuation. Upon modification,
the original Convertible Bonds 2019 was extinguished and a gain of approximately
RMB2,760,000 arising from the fair value difference of the liability portion was recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2021 and an aggregate amount of
RMB2,387,000 from the convertible bond reserve was transferred to the accumulated loss. Save
as disclosed above, all other principal terms and conditions of the convertible bond subscription
agreement and the convertible bonds as amended by the amendment deed remain unchanged.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

22.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Convertible Bonds 2021 contain two components: liability and equity components. The equity
element is presented in equity heading “Convertible bond reserve”. The effective interest rate of
the liability component on the initial recognition was 19.21% per annum.

The Convertible Bonds 2021 information are presented as follows:

Principal amount: RMB15,763,000

(Equivalent to HK$18,128,000)
Interest: 8% p.a. payable semi-annually
Issue date: 23 June 2021
Maturity date: 23 June 2023
Conversion price per share: HK$1.10
Discount rate: 20.49%

The Convertible Bonds 2019 and Convertible Bonds 2021 recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position were calculated as follows:

Convertible Convertible
Bonds 2019 Bonds 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
Liability component 12,839 12,466
Equity component 4,141 1,754
Fair value on issue date 16,980 14,220
At 1 January 2023 - 14,964
Interest charged - 1,401
Interest payable/paid - (601)
Conversion of convertible bonds - (15,764)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024 - _
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

LEASE LIABILITIES

Present
value of the Total
minimum minimum
lease lease
payments payments
2024 2024
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Within one year 102 113
After one year but within two years 91 94
193 207
Less: total future interest expenses (14)
Present value of lease liabilities 193
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months
(shown under current liabilities) (102)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months
(shown under non-current liabilities) 91

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range of 8.15%.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group participate in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes”) organised by the PRC municipal and provincial government authorities whereby
the PRC subsidiaries are required to make contributions at the rate of 12% to 21% (2023: 12% to
21%) of the eligible employees’ salaries to the Schemes. The Group has accrued for the required
contributions which are remitted to the respective local government authorities when the
contributions become due. The local government authorities are responsible for the pension
obligations payable to the retired employees covered under the Schemes.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously covered by the defined
benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group does not have any material obligation for the payment of retirement benefits except
for those schemes described above.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has no forfeited contributions available to reduce
the existing level of contributions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

25.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 27 December 2013 for the purpose of
rewarding certain eligible persons for their past contributions and attracting and retaining, or
otherwise maintaining on-going relationships with, such eligible persons who are significant to
and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the
Group. Subject to the earlier termination of the Share Option Scheme in accordance with the
rules thereof, the Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on the Listing Date. Therefore, the Share Option Scheme was expired in 2023.
Following the expiry of the scheme on 27 December 2023, no further share option can be
granted, but the provisions of the scheme will remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any share options granted prior thereto or otherwise
as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the scheme.

Eligible participants of the Scheme include any proposed, full-time or part-time employees,
executives or officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; any directors or proposed
director (including non-executive director and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; any direct or indirect Shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries; and any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the Listing Date, i.e. 80,000,000 shares of the Company.
Subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to
time, the Board may:

(i) renew this limit at any time to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of the approval by
the Shareholders in general meeting; and/or

(ify  grant options beyond the 10% limit to eligible participants specifically identified by the
Board.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon the exercise of options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of options in excess of this 1%
limit shall be subject to: (i) the issue of a circular by the Company; and (ii) the approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules
from time to time.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors of the Company. In addition, where any grant of options or awards to an
independent non-executive director or a substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued in respect of all
options and awards granted (excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the scheme) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of shares in issue, such further
grant of options or awards must be approved by shareholders of the Company in general
meeting in the manner set out in Rule 17.04(4) of the Listing Rules.

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, which period
may commence on the date of the offer of the share options, and ends on a date which is not
later than ten years from the date of grant of the share options subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay the Company HK$1.0
upon acceptance of the grant on or before 28 days after the offer date.

The exercise price share based of the share options is determinable by the directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of the shares on the
date of the offer for the grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

On 2 November 2018, the Company has granted, a total of 8,000,000 share options to certain
directors, employees and others under Share Option Scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no equity-settled share-based payment was
recognised to consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company and is
settled gross in shares.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

25. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:
Share Option Scheme

Number of Contractual

options life of

Date of grant granted Vesting conditions options
Options granted to directors:

2 November 2018 Batch 1 420,000 1 year after the grant date 10 years

2 November 2018 Batch 2 630,000 2 years after the grant date 10 years

Options granted to employees and others:

2 November 2018 Batch 1 2,780,000 1 year after the grant date 10 years
2 November 2018 Batch 2 4,170,000 2 years after the grant date 10 years
8,000,000

(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as
follows:

Share Option Scheme
Year ended 31 December 2024 Year ended 31 December 2023

Weighted Number of Weighted Number of

Average Options Average Options

Exercise price 000 Exercise price '000

Outstanding at the end of the year HK$1.07 8,000 HK$1.07 8,000
Exercisable at the end of the year HK$1.07 8,000 HK$1.07 8,000

The share options outstanding as at 31 December 2024 had an exercise price of HK$1.07
(2023: HK$1.07) and a weighted average remaining contractual life is 4 years (2023: 5
years).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

25. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services rendered by the directors and employees in return for the share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair value of the share options granted.
Set out below are the estimate of such fair value and the related assumptions based on the
binomial model:

Share Option Scheme

Batch 1 Batch 2
Fair value at measurement date (HK$) 0.6441 0.6441
Exercise price (HK$) 1.07 1.07
Expected volatility 56.512% 56.512%
Contractual option life 10 10
Expected dividends 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free rate 2.44% 2.44%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of comparable companies.
Expected dividends are based on management’s assumption. Changes in the subjective
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under service condition. These conditions have not been taken
account in the fair value measurements at the grant dates. There were no market
conditions associated with the grants of the share options.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 8,000,000 (2023: 8,000,000) share options
outstanding under the share option schemes, which represented approximately 4.3%
(2023: 5.1%) of the Company’s shares in issue as of that date.

Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at the end of the reporting
period

Exercise 2024 2023
Exercise period Price Number Number
2 November 2018 to 1 November 2028 HK$1.07 8,000,000 8,000,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a)

(b)

Dividends

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period. The rates of
dividend and the number of shares ranking for dividend are not presented, as such

information
statements.

is not considered meaningful for the purpose of these consolidated financial

Share capital
(i) Authorised and issued share capital

2024 2023
No. of share HK$°000 RMB’000 No. of share HK$'000 RMB’000

Authorised:
At 1 January and 31 December
(ordinary share of HK$0.1

(2023;

HK$0.1 each)) 1,000,000,000 100,000 79,380  1,000,000,000 100,000 79,380

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 158,176,000 15,818 13,026 141,696,000 14,170 11,516
Conversion of convertible bonds (note i) - - - 16,480,000 1,648 1,510
Issue of share upon placing (note ii) 28,338,000 2,834 2,628 - - -
At 31 December 186,514,000 18,652 15,654 158,176,000 15,818 13,026
notes:

(i)

(if)

The Company received a conversion notice from Goldrun Limited as bondholder in respect
of the exercise of the Conversion Rights attached to the Convertible Bonds with the principal
amount of approximately RMB15,764,000 (i.e. HK$18,128,000) at the initial conversion price
of HK$1.10 per ordinary share, as a result the Company allotted and issued 16,480,000
Conversion Shares to Goldrun Limited on 19 June 2023 (the “Conversion”). Following the
Conversion, 16,480,000 Conversion Shares have been issued which rank pari passu in all
respects among themselves and with all other existing ordinary shares in issue and they
represent approximately 10.4% of the total issued ordinary shares of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the 16,480,000 Conversion Shares upon the
Conversion.

On 28 May 2024, the Company placed 28,338,000 placing shares at the placing price of
HK$0.70 per placing share. The net proceeds of approximately RMB18,029,000, after
deducting the transaction costs of approximately RMB370,000, are intended to be used for
general working capital of the Group. Details of the placing of shares were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 8 May 2024 and 28 May 2024,

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from
time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company'’s residual assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserve

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the Company’s share
premium account are distributable to the shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed. The Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Statutory reserve

As stipulated by regulations in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries established and
operated in PRC are required to appropriate 10% of their after-tax-profit (after
offsetting prior year losses) as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting
rules and regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made
before distribution of profits to parent companies.

The statutory reserve can be utilised, upon approval by the relevant authorities, to
offset accumulated losses or to increase capital of the subsidiary, provided that the
balance after such issue is not less than 25% of its registered capital.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of financial statements of operations outside PRC which are dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies as set out in Note 2.

Share-based payment reserve

Share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of services rendered by
employees of the Group to whom the Company has granted share options, and the
fair value of services provided by parties other than employees to the Group and the
services were settled by equity instrument of the Company. The relevant services are
recognised in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-based payment.

Capital reserve

Think Wise Holdings Investment Limited (“Think Wise”), the immediate controlling
party of the Group waived an outstanding amount of HK$184,239,688 (equivalent to
RMB145,549,000) due from Red Kids Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary of
the Group in January 2014. This deed of waiver has been reflected as a reduction of
amount due to Think Wise and a corresponding increase in the capital reserve of the
Group.

Convertible bond reserve
Convertible bond reserve represents equity portion of Convertible Bonds.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

27.

(d)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products commensurately with the level of
risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure with reference to its debt position. The Group’s
strategy is to maintain the equity and debt in a balanced position and ensure there are
adequate working capital to service its debt obligations. The Group’s debt to capital ratio,
being the Group’s interest-bearing bank loans over its total equity, at 31 December 2024
was 13% (2023: 12%).

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, other receivables, cash and
bank balances, trade payables, accrued charges and other payables and bank loans. Details of
these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 128,396 134,539
Financial liabilities
Amortised costs 72,282 73,417

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and deposits
with banks. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to the credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

(a)

(i)

Trade receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on customers requiring credit terms. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s history of making payments and current abilities
to pay and take into account information specific to the customer as well as to the
economic environment. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers. Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in Note 17 and 18.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer and therefore significant concentrations of credit
risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
13% of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 13%) were due
from the Group’s largest customer, and 59% (2023: 57%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group’s five largest customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group’s financial assets is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)  Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk
and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
At 31 December 2024 loss rate amount allowance

% RMB’000 RMB’000

Current (not past due) 4.6 63,157 2,899

Less than 1 month past due 10.2 9,726 994
Over 1 month but less than 3 months

past due 13.2 22,490 2,965

Over 3 months past due 100.0 10,446 10,446

105,819 17,304

Gross

Expected carrying Loss

At 31 December 2023 loss rate amount allowance

% RMB’000 RMB’000

Current (not past due) 7.9 74,511 5,875

Less than 1 month past due 10.9 11,0083 1,195
Over 1 month but less than 3 months

past due 13.7 17,868 2,446

Over 3 months past due 100.0 8,041 8,041

111,423 17,557

The expected loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the ECL of debtors with gross carrying amount of
approximately RMB105,819,000 (2023: RMB111,423,000) was assessed by using
provision matrix.

The closing loss allowances for including trade receivables as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

Trade Trade
receivables receivables
lifetime ECL lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
At 1 January 2023 3,659 8,301 11,960
Allowance for/(reversal of) expected
credit loss recognised in profit or
loss during the year, net 5,857 (260) 5,597

At 31 December 2023 and

1 January 2024 9,516 8,041 17,557
Allowance for/(reversal of) expected

credit loss recognised in profit or

loss during the year, net (2,658) 2,405 (253)

At 31 December 2024 6,858 10,446 17,304

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period greater than 1 year
past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net allowance for expected

credit loss within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Other receivable

The following table shows the movement in 12m-ECL that has been recognised for
other receivables:

12m-ECL
RMB’000
At 1 January 2023 B
Allowance for expected credit loss recognised in profit or loss
during the year, net 12
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 17
Reversal of expected credit loss recognised in profit or loss
during the year, net (16)
At 31 December 2024 1

The credit quality of the other receivables excluding prepayments has been
assessed with reference to historical information about the counterparties default
rates and financial position of the counterparties.

Deposits with banks

The Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial
institutions with established credit rating. Given the high credit ratings of the banks,
management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk
The board of directors of the Company is responsible for cash management, including the
short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer terms.

All non-interest bearing financial liabilities of the Group are carried at amount not materially
different from their contractual undiscounted cash flow as all the financial liabilities are
with maturities within one year or repayable on demand at the end of respective reporting
period.

The following tables show the remaining scheduled maturities at the end of respective
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
scheduled undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of reporting period) and
the earliest date of the Group can be required to pay:

At 31 December 2024

Weighted  On demand

average or Total Total
effective within 2to5 undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year years cash flows amount
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Trade and other
payables - 55,089 - 55,089 55,089
Bank loans 3.7% 17,315 - 17,315 17,000
Lease liabilities 8.2% 113 94 207 193
72,517 94 72,611 72,282
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2023

Weighted On demand
average or Total Total
effective within 2105 undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year years cash flows amount
% RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Trade and other
payables - 56,417 - 56,417 56,417
Bank loans 3.7% 17,297 - 17,297 17,000
73,714 - 73,714 73,417

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank loans. Borrowings issued at fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profiles as
monitored by management are set out below.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of

each reporting period:

2024

Effective
interest rate

Fixed rate borrowings:
Bank loans

3.70%

Amount
RMB’000

17,000

2023

Effective
interest rate

3.70%

Amount

RMB’000

17,000

Interest rate risk from bank loans is considered insignificant given these loans are at fixed

interest rates.

Fair value risk arising from these bank loans is considered insignificant given these loans

have short maturities.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(d) Currency risk
Except for operations of the Company and other investment holding companies outside the
PRC, the Group’s businesses are principally conducted in RMB and most of the Group’s
monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB. Accordingly, the management
considers the Group’s exposure to currency risk is insignificant.

(e) Fair values
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active market for identical assets or liabilities.

o Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted
prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that

include inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The directors are of the view that the following are related parties of the Group:
Name of party Relationship

Mr. Ding Peiji Ultimate controlling party

(a) Material transactions with related parties

In addition to the related party transactions disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material related party transactions during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Guarantee provided by a related party

Secured bank loans of RMB17,000,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB17,000,000)
were guaranteed by Mr. Ding Peiji (Note 20).

(b) Key management personnel compensation
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the
directors of the Company as disclosed in Note 8 and the highest paid employees as
disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term employee benefits 3,474 2,950
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 54 52
3,528 3,002

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (Note 6(b)).

'I 5 6 MIKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

29. FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 174,507 114,373
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 619 8,212
619 8,212
Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 42,657 12,856
Net current liabilities (42,038) (4,644)
Total assets less current liabilities 132,469 109,729
Equity
Share capital 26(b) 15,654 13,026
Reserves 26 116,815 96,703
Total equity 132,469 109,729

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.

Ding Peiji Ding Peiyuan
Director Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

30. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Share-
Based Convertible
Share payment bonds Exchange Accumulated
Premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
26(c)(i) 26(c)(iv) 26(c)(vi) 26(c)(iii)
Balance at 1 January 2023 288,164 4,571 1,754 13,788 (213,844) 94,433
Loss for the year - - - - (19,585) (19,585)
Other comprehensive income - - - 7,601 - 7,601
Conversion of convertible bonds 16,008 - (1,754) - - 14,254
Balance at 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024 304,172 4,571 - 21,389 (233,429) 96,703
Changes in equity for 2024:
Loss for the year - - - - (2,740) (2,740)
Other comprehensive income - - - 7,451 - 7,451
Issue of placing shares, net of expenses 15,401 - - - - 15,401
Balance at 31 December 2024 319,573 4,571 - 28,840 (236,169) 116,815
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31.

32.

33.

34.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars of all subsidiaries would be
of excessive length and therefore the following list contains only the subsidiaries as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 which principally affected the results or assets of the Group.

Proportion of
Ownership interest

Particulars of

Place of Issued and Group’s Held Held
Incorporation paid up effective by the by a
Name of company and business capital Interest Company Subsidiary  Principal activity
Red Kids (China) Co., Ltd.* PRC HK$460,000,000 100% - 100%  Design manufacture and

sales of children
apparel products

Miko (Shanghai) Apparels Co., Ltd.* PRC HK$20,000,000 100% - 100%  Design manufacture and
sales of children
apparel products

Shandong Luger Trading Co., Ltd*  PRC USD10,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading of bulk
commodity products

Chongaing Jieyibao Technology Co., PRC USD30,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading of bulk
Ltd* commodity products

Jiangsu Jewel Trade LLC* PRC USD10,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading of bulk

commodity products

* These entities are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC. The English translation of the
companies’ names is for reference only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered into new lease agreement for the
use of office premises. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use asset
and lease liabilities of approximately RMB206,000.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Directors are not aware of any significant events requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 28 March 2025.
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FIVE YEARS
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

The following table summarises the consolidated results of the Group for each of the five years ended
31 December:

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Turnover 389,137 150,614 142,415 136,685 115,785
Gross Profit 19,120 25,534 27,203 31,474 8,634
Loss from operations (27,261) (10,687) (6,347) (20,335) (73,215)
Loss before taxation (27,876) (12,671) (10,321) (24,989) (78,218)
Loss for the year (28,417) (12,716) (10,321) (24,989) (78,218)
Non-current assets 46,810 44,590 87,273 94,555 104,646
Current assets 159,248 173,963 150,867 121,984 133,456
Current liabilities 72,191 73,417 95,970 63,497 81,918
Net current assets 87,057 100,546 54,897 58,487 51,538
Net assets 132,476 143,836 140,870 138,235 154,884
Gross profit margin 4.9% 17.0% 19.1% 23.0% 7.5%
Operating loss margin (7.0%) (7.1%) (4.5%) (14.9%) (63.2%)
Net loss margin (7.3%) (8.4%) (7.2%) (18.3%) (67.6%)
Current ratio 2.2 times 2.4 times 1.6 times 1.9 times 1.6 times
Gearing ratio 12.8% 11.8% 12.1% 31.2% 38.2%
Inventory turnover day 24 days 79 days 86 days 141 days 124 days
Trade receivables turnover day 86 days 217 days 194 days 167 days 200 days

Trade and bills payables turnover day 18 days 54 days 13 days 14 days 13 days
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